## ECONOMIST IMPACT

# Breathing in a new era

A comparative analysis of lung cancer policies in Japan, South Korea and Taiwan



# Contents

- 3 About this report
- 4 Introduction
- 7 Lung cancer is a strategic priority
- 9 Lung cancer is a public health issue
- 13 Lung cancer is a race against time
- 14 Lung cancer is at a crossroads
- **17** Lung cancer is a focus for research
- **19** Looking ahead
- 22 References
- 25 Appendix
- 25 Methodology
- **32** Detailed country scorecard with explanation

# **About this report**

Breathing in a new era: a comparative analysis of lung cancer policies in Japan, South Korea and Taiwan is an Economist Impact report sponsored by MSD.

This research, an extension to a previous Economist Impact study published in 2021, utilises the same scorecard framework. It incorporates a comprehensive literature review and interviews with distinguished experts in lung cancer care to update the scorecard and its findings. We wish to express our deepest gratitude to the following experts (listed alphabetically) for their invaluable time, expertise and insights, which were crucial to the creation of this report:

- John Wen-Cheng Chang, Associate Professor, Internal Medicine, Division of Hematology-Oncology, Chang Gung Memorial Hospital, Taoyuan; chief executive officer Formosa Cancer Foundation, Taiwan
- Hidehito Horinouchi, National Cancer Center Hospital; Assistant Chief, Department of Thoracic Oncology; Chief, Office for Patient Flow Management; Chief, Office for Professional

Education Management; Japan Clinical Oncology Group (JCOG); Secretary-General, Lung Cancer Study Group, Tokyo, Japan 3

- In Kyu Park, Professor, Department of Thoracic and Cardiovascular Surgery, Seoul National University Hospital, Seoul National University College of Medicine; Chief, Lung Cancer Center, Seoul National University Cancer Hospital; Director of Public Relation, Korean Association for Lung Cancer
- James Chih-Hsin Yang, Professor, Director, National Taiwan University Cancer Center
- **Pan-Chyr Yang**, Chair Professor, Department of Internal Medicine, National Taiwan University Hospital

The Economist Impact bears sole responsibility for the content of this report. This research was led by Neeladri Verma with support from Emily Tiemann. The report was written by Radha Raghupathy and Neeladri Verma and edited by Emily Tiemann and Paul Tucker. The research team included Divya Sharma and Xin Peng. The findings and views expressed in the report do not necessarily reflect the views of the sponsor.

# Introduction

Despite advances in primary prevention, screening and the development of novel therapies, lung cancer remains the leading cause of cancerrelated deaths worldwide.<sup>1</sup> The East Asia region experienced the highest lung cancer-related crude incidence and deaths in 2020, and by 2050 the global burden of lung cancer is projected to increase to 3.8m new cases and 3.2m deaths per year, with the greatest burden expected in East Asia, at 1.7m new cases and 1.5m deaths.<sup>2,3</sup>

Globally, the age-standardised incidence rate (ASIR) and age-standardised death rate (ASDR) due to lung cancer declined between 2010 and 2022.<sup>4</sup> However, a regional variation is evident. South Korea has notably higher ASIR than the average of APAC high-income countries. On the other hand, Japan consistently reported low ASIR rates, comparable to the APAC high-income average, while Taiwan exhibited a fluctuating ASIR trend during the same period (as shown in Figure 1). All regions and countries experienced a temporary dip in ASIR during the 2020-21 pandemic period. However, by 2022, these rates rebounded to their pre-pandemic range of 2018-19. This variation can likely be attributed to the impact that the covid-19 pandemic had on cancer screening and diagnostic pathways.

4



### **Figure 1: Lung cancer incidence rates, 2010-2022** Age-standardised incidence rate per 100,000

Source: Institute for Health Metrics Evaluation. Used with permission. All rights reserved.<sup>4</sup>

© The Economist Impact 2024



Figure 2 clearly shows that Taiwan has the highest ASDR among high-income countries. Specifically, Taiwan's ASDR is notably higher when compared to Japan and South Korea, the other two high-income nations in the East Asia region. Moreover, Taiwan's ASDR significantly surpasses the average ASDR of high-income countries both globally and within the Asia-Pacific (APAC) region. There is also a noted gender disparity in Taiwan, with the decline being slower among females than males.<sup>5,6</sup> Japan, meanwhile, maintains the lowest ASDR.

5



**Figure 2: Lung cancer death rates, 2010-2022** Age-standardised death rate per 100,000

Source: Institute for Health Metrics Evaluation. Used with permission. All rights reserved.<sup>4</sup>

In 2021 Economist Impact authored a study examining the policy and system performance of ten countries across five key domains in lung cancer.<sup>7</sup> In this report, we focus on three highincome economies in East Asia: Japan, South Korea and Taiwan. A revised policy scorecard is used to assess performance across the same five domains:

- Lung cancer is a strategic priority
- · Lung cancer is a public health issue

- Lung cancer is a race against time
- Lung cancer is at a crossroads
- Lung cancer is a focus for research

We explore the advancements in lung cancer care and policy changes in these countries since our last report and identify areas for further growth. The selected high-income East Asian countries have risen to the challenge of lung cancer, implementing a range of measures. However, barriers to care persist.



# Lung cancer is a strategic priority

This domain covers national cancer control plans and clinical guidelines relating to lung cancer. Taiwan scores highly in this domain, while Japan and South Korea score moderately well.



Strong and concerted national-level policy efforts (in the shape of cancer control plans) are necessary to address disparities in lung cancer care. All three countries have national cancer control plans. However, Taiwan stands out with a dedicated lung cancer control plan launched in 2022, which includes key performance targets as shown in Table 1.<sup>8</sup> Such dedicated national action plans for lung cancer, as also exemplified by countries like Ireland and

# Dedicated national action plans for lung cancer can facilitate greater political focus and resource allocation.

Australia, can facilitate greater political focus and resource allocation.<sup>9,10</sup>

All three countries have comprehensive lung cancer management guidelines. In Taiwan, a patient has the right to choose and make decisions regarding the treatment options provided by the physician. In 2018, the Taiwan Ministry of Health and Welfare (MOHW) published a decision tool for use by the public titled "Do I need low-dose CT scan screening for lung cancer?" to promote shared decisionmaking and physician-patient consensus for lung cancer screening.<sup>11</sup> However, guidelines regarding shared decision-making are lacking in Japan and South Korea.

7

### Table 1: Performance Indicators in the Taiwan National Lung Cancer Plan<sup>8</sup>

Lung cancer health	2015 (baseline)	2025	2030
outcomes		(short-term target)	(long-term target)
Proportion of early-stage (stage 1) lung cancer diagnosis	21%	42%	54%
Premature death rate of lung cancer among persons aged 30-70 years	1.42%	1.07% (a decrease of 25%)	0.95% (a decrease of ~33%)
The five-year relative survival rate	24%	48%	60%
	(2011-15)	(2021-25)	(2026-30)

8

# Lung cancer is a public health issue

This domain focuses on tobacco control, air pollution and lung cancer screening. Taiwan scores highly in this domain, and Japan and South Korea score moderately well.



# **Tobacco control**

Since our last study, Japan has made significant progress in tobacco control.<sup>12</sup> However, smoking prevalence in the country remains high with estimates in 2019 placing the prevalence at 27% among men.<sup>13</sup> Japan's Health Promotion Law prohibits smoking in all indoor public spaces, but outdoor public spaces and indoor private spaces are exempt.<sup>13</sup> Better protection for people from active and passive tobacco exposure is necessary. South Korea has taken the lead in implementing cigarette taxation, levying 73.8% of the retail price, closely aligned with the WHO recommendation of 75%.<sup>14</sup> In Japan and Taiwan, taxes are lower, at 59.9% and 53% respectively.<sup>15,16</sup> On a positive note, Taiwan and South Korea have a ring-fenced funding mechanism where a proportion of tobacco taxes are reinvested into cancer prevention and control.<sup>17,18</sup>

Novel delivery systems for tobacco have made the landscape more complex. A concerning trend of increasing e-cigarette use among adolescents has been noted in Japan and South Korea, and the two countries are the world's largest and second largest markets for heated tobacco products (HTP).<sup>19-24</sup> Examples of stringent control over alternative tobacco products can be drawn from Taiwan, where e-cigarettes were banned entirely in March 2023 and HTPs

9

must be assessed by health authorities before manufacture and sale.  $^{\rm 25,26}$ 

### **Environmental factors**

Outdoor air pollution is the second biggest risk factor for lung cancer deaths globally and has a disproportionate impact on women.<sup>27</sup> The WHO Air Quality Guidelines of 2021 lowered the annual recommended limit for PM2.5 (particles that are 2.5 microns or less in diameter) to 5  $\mu$ g/m<sup>3</sup> and provided four interim targets.<sup>28</sup> Experts note that the annual national average target for PM2.5 concentration in Japan, South Korea and Taiwan is around 15  $\mu$ g/m<sup>3</sup> (which aligns with the WHO interim target 3) to keep more realistic goals and encourage measurable progress.<sup>28</sup>

Lung cancer in East Asia is notable for a unique segment of never-smokers with early onset disease.<sup>29</sup> Pan-Chyr Yang, chair professor in

the Department of Internal Medicine at National Taiwan University Hospital, says that East Asian women appear to have a greater genetic susceptibility to the development of lung cancer in response to environmental carcinogens. "In people with a family history of lung cancer, the ten-year cumulative incidence of lung cancer can be as high as 4.5%," says Prof Yang. These findings highlight the need for region-specific lung cancer screening guidelines with broader inclusion criteria.

### Screening

"Early diagnosis and stage shift are the most important factors that can improve overall survival of lung cancer," says Prof Yang. All three countries have lung cancer screening programmes, though they differ from each other (Table 2).

"Early diagnosis and stage shift are the most important factors that can improve overall survival of lung cancer."

Pan-Chyr Yang, Chair Professor in the Department of Internal Medicine at National Taiwan University Hospital

### Table 2: Lung cancer screening programmes<sup>30-34</sup>

Country	Inclusion criteria for screening	Frequency of screening	Type and modality of screening	Insurance coverage	Screening rate
Japan	Smokers or non- smokers aged ≥40	Annually	Population- based screening	Covered by National Health Insurance	Men: 53.4% Women: 45.6%.
	years		programme since 1987; chest X-ray and sputum cytology	(NHI)	(data from 2019)
South Korea	Adults aged 55-74 who are: • current smokers or • ex-smokers (within 15 years) that have ≥30 pack-year smoking history	Annually	Organised low- dose computed tomography (LDCT) (since 2019)	The National Health Insurance Service (NHIS) covers 90% of the cost of the Korean National Cancer Screening Programme (KNCSP). LDCT costs approximately US\$100, of which patients pay 10%. The full cost is covered for people in low-income groups (the bottom half of income distribution)	23% of eligible people underwent screening in 2019 and 2020
Taiwan	Adults between 50 and 74 years of age who are: • current smokers or • ex-smokers (within 15 years) that have ≥ 30 pack-year smoking history Men aged 50-74 and women aged 45-74 who are non-smokers or light smokers with a family history of lung cancer	Biennially	Organised LDCT (since 2022)	Covered by Health Promotion Administration (HPA) funding	Data are not available, but experts note that the screening rate should be more than 50%

Japan takes pride in having a higher detection rate of early-stage lung cancer compared to its neighbours, which may be attributed to the country having the highest number of computed tomography (CT) scanners per capita among the Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development (OECD) nations.<sup>35</sup> As explained by Hidehito Horinouchi, Assistant Chief in the Department of Thoracic Oncology at the National Cancer Center Hospital in Tokyo, given the widespread availability and reimbursement by national health insurance, a large number of patients undergo chest CT scans even for minor symptoms, thereby increasing the chances of diagnosing lung cancer at an early stage. However, the lung cancer screening rates (i.e. the screening by chest x-ray; LDCT is not included in Japan's national lung cancer screening programme) are lower for women than men, at 45.6% versus 53.4% in 2019.<sup>36</sup> Dr Horinouchi says, "In the working population, I think the lung cancer screening [by chest x-ray] is not so bad because the companies implement the rules that mandate screenings for all employees. However, as a larger number of females do not work outside their homes, we see that the screening among them is a little bit lower." There is a need to improve screening rates in Japan, especially among women, and develop a more systematic approach to LDCT screening to reduce indiscriminate use and radiation exposure.

In South Korea, the National Lung Cancer Screening Programme (NLCSP) was launched in 2019, but it does not include high-risk nonsmokers.<sup>37</sup> In Kyu Park, professor at Seoul National University Hospital and chief of the Lung Cancer Center at Seoul National University Cancer Hospital, notes that coverage of screening has been modest; people are recruited through postal mail, and about 50% of eligible patients who receive the invitation undergo lung cancer screening.

Taiwan has emerged as the forerunner in its comprehensive population-based LDCT screening programme for lung cancer, which was implemented in July 2022 and includes both smokers and non-smokers.<sup>32,33</sup> "Since July 2022, a total of 78,000 subjects have been screened until Dec 2023, and the detection rate of lung cancer is up to 1.2%, with 85% of these cases detected at stages 0-I," says Prof Yang. According to Prof Yang, it is important to include individuals with a family history of lung cancer in the screening programme, as the detection rate is 1.6% for individuals with a family history of lung cancer, compared to 0.7% for heavy smokers.

# Lung cancer is a race against time

Delays between diagnosis, speciality referral and treatment result in poor lung cancer outcomes.<sup>38</sup> This domain looks at guidelines regarding referral pathways and timelines to ensure early diagnosis and timely treatment. Japan and South Korea score moderately low in this domain, whereas Taiwan scores moderately high.



In Taiwan, recommendations exist for abnormalities identified by screening but not for symptomatic disease. "The national lung cancer screening programme in Taiwan recommends hospitals establish green channels to expedite the follow-up of abnormalities identified on screening," says John Wen-Cheng Chang, associate professor of internal medicine within the Division of Hematology-Oncology at Chang

"Examples can be drawn from the UK, Australia and New Zealand that have developed fast-track lung cancer pathways advising optimal timeframes for diagnosis and management." Gung Memorial Hospital in Taiwan. In Japan and South Korea, guidelines do not specify a timeline for referral or treatment. Examples can be drawn from the UK, Australia and New Zealand that have developed fast-track lung cancer pathways advising optimal timeframes for diagnosis and management.<sup>39,40</sup>

All three countries in our study emphasise the need for multidisciplinary-team (MDT) care after diagnosis. MDT-based decision-making for cancer patients in South Korea has been officially introduced and encouraged by the National Health Insurance Service since August 2014.<sup>41</sup> In Japan, the Cancer Control Act encourages an MDTbased approach and professional training, including training and appointment of specialist nurses<sup>42</sup>

# Lung cancer is at a crossroads

This domain offers a broad view of comprehensive lung cancer treatment. Japan and South Korea score moderately high, while Taiwan has room for improvement with a moderate score.



Significant revisions have been made from the prior version of the scorecard regarding testing for biomarkers and PD-L1 (a protein that helps to regulate immune response) as well as approval and reimbursement of several innovative therapies, in line with the latest guidelines produced by the US National Comprehensive Cancer Network (NCCN). As a result, the scores have changed significantly compared to the previous study.

# Innovations in treatment and comprehensive care

New targeted therapies for lung cancer with specific driver mutations and immunotherapy for lung cancer without specific driver mutations (wild-type) have resulted in significantly improved outcomes (Figure 3).43-45 The targeted therapies rely on diagnostic tests to identify specific mutations. However, access to these tests in our countries is not comprehensive. In Japan, next-generation sequencing (NGS) for the EGFR, ALK, ROS1, BRAF and RET mutations is approved as companion diagnostics.<sup>46,47</sup> Prof Yang notes that Taiwan only reimburses testing for the EGFR, ROS1 and ALK mutations, although an extended panel of molecular testing by NGS is likely to be reimbursed later this year.48 South Korea only reimburses 50% of the cost of NGS testing.<sup>49</sup> Experts also allude to a slow drug approval process and gaps in reimbursement for targeted agents.<sup>50</sup>

### Figure 3: Classification of lung cancer to aid treatment approach<sup>51,52</sup>



- EGFR exons 18-21, BRAF V600E, HER2 and KRAS, G12C, ALK mutations
- MET14 exon skipping mutations and MET amplifications
- ROS1, NTRK and RET rearrangements

Although PD-L1 testing (to assess eligibility for immunotherapy) is reimbursed in the three countries, the approval and reimbursement for immune checkpoint inhibitors is less robust. Japan has broader coverage and reimburses immunotherapy in neoadjuvant (before surgery) and adjuvant (after surgery) settings as consolidation after definitive chemo-radiation and as first-line treatment for metastatic disease with further maintenance, in line with NCCN guidelines.<sup>53</sup> South Korea only reimburses immune checkpoint

# "[In Taiwan] The current reimbursement criteria may not meet all patients' needs and physicians' expectations."

John Wen-Cheng Chang, Associate professor of internal medicine within the Division of Hematology-Oncology at Chang Gung Memorial Hospital in Taiwan inhibitors as first-line therapy in metastatic disease. Prof. Park explained that Korean physicians carefully select patients for each immunotherapy regimen not based on evidence but on the reimbursement criteria set by the reimbursement authority. Similarly, in Taiwan, immunotherapy reimbursement as the first line is restricted to patients with metastatic disease who are ineligible for or have failed chemotherapy.<sup>54</sup> "[In Taiwan,] due to insufficient budget, immunotherapy reimbursement for wild-type lung cancer does not align with local and global guidelines," says Prof Chang. "The current reimbursement criteria may not meet all patients' needs and physicians' expectations." The key aspects to improving disease outcomes in this region are faster drug approvals, better reimbursement options and an equitable focus on emerging therapies with comprehensive care.

• PD-L1 expression >=50%

### Table 3: Drug approval and reimbursement processes in countries of interest<sup>55-59</sup>

Drug approval	All new drugs are evaluated and get approved by the Taiwan Food and Drug Administration (TFDA)	Ministry of Food and Drug Safety (MFDS)	Ministry of Health, Labour and Welfare (MHLW)* with support from Pharmaceutical and Medical Devices Agency (PMDA)
Drug reimbursement	Taiwan National Health Insurance (NHI)-funded by premiums	The Health Insurance Review and Assessment Service (HIRA) supported by Pharmaceutical Benefit Coverage Assessment Committee	All new drugs approved by the PMDA are reimbursed by the National Health Insurance (NHI)
Drug pricing	Pharmaceutical Benefit and Reimbursement Scheme joint committee (PBRS)	National Health Insurance Service (NHIS)	MHLW determines official reimbursement prices, which is approved by the Central Social Insurance Medical Council (Chuikyo)
Co-payment <sup>†</sup>	No co-payment for innovative cancer therapies added to reimbursement list	Co-payment 5% for patients with cancer, with a cap	Co-payment ranges from 10- 30% based on age & earning status, with a monthly cap.

\*On the basis of the review reports submitted from Pharmaceuticals and Medical Devices Agency (PMDA), MHLW makes a decision on the approval of the new drugs after seeking advice from the Pharmaceutical Affairs and Food Sanitation Council (PAFSC)

<sup>†</sup>Copayments in Japan vary depending on age with those over 70 years of age having lower copayments. Copayments in Korea are lower for patients with cancer (5%) and compared to those with other diseases (20-30%)

# **Psychological and supportive care**

All three countries have guidelines that include referral pathways to supportive and palliative care services for lung cancer patients, and oncologists receive training in palliative care. In 2020, Taiwan introduced psycho-oncology clinical care guidelines for lung cancer. These guidelines outline a referral pathway for lung cancer patients to access psychological support services. There is also evidence of psychological support for patients in Japan. "[In Japan,] the government offers financial incentives to cancer centres to appoint psychologists and social workers for patients," says Dr Horinouchi. However, in South Korea, there remains a pressing need to enhance psychological support and establish effective referral pathways for lung cancer patients.

# Lung cancer is a focus for research

This domain focuses on the utilisation of cancer registries, allocation of research funding, and the local development of innovative therapies. South Korea excels in this domain, achieving a high score. Japan and Taiwan also perform well, with moderately high scores.



All three countries maintain high-quality cancer registries and comprehensive registration systems.<sup>60-62</sup> In Taiwan, the registry data is used to evaluate the progress made on the targets set in the National Lung Cancer Plan.

To understand how research is prioritised across the countries in our study, we looked at the gross domestic expenditures on research and development (R&D), expressed as a percent of GDP.\* As seen in Figure 4, South Korea spends the maximum on R&D as a percentage of GDP.

Figure 3: R&D spending (% of GDP)



Source: World Bank data and Research and Development Funding, Ministry of Economic Affairs, Taiwan  $^{\rm 63-65}$ 

\*According to World Bank the gross domestic expenditures on research and development (R&D), expressed as a percent of GDP, include both capital and current expenditures in the four main sectors: Business enterprise, Government, Higher education and Private non-profit. R&D covers basic research, applied research, and experimental development. Available at: <a href="https://databank.worldbank.org/metadataglossary/jobs/series/GB.XPD.RSDV.GD.ZS">https://databank.worldbank.org/metadataglossary/jobs/series/GB.XPD.RSDV.GD.ZS</a>

Dr Horinouchi says, "In Japan, the government supports clinical trials [by Japan Clinical Oncology Group (JCOG)] not only in medical oncology but also multimodality trial, especially in the surgical space. This enables innovation beyond novel therapies." In South Korea, heavy government investment in the biomedical space have resulted in the successful development of locally grown targeted therapies for lung cancer. As the saying goes, "today's investment is tomorrow's care." This approach ensures continuous progress in the fight against lung cancer. Taiwan could improve in this domain.



# **Looking ahead**

Big strides have been made, but much more remains to be done to improve lung cancer outcomes across East Asia. Through reviewing current evidence and speaking with experts in the field, we have identified four calls to action that countries in the region could consider.

# Improve tobacco control and air quality management

Dedicated efforts are necessary to tackle the two main risk factors for lung cancer–tobacco and air pollution. Towards tobacco control, greater emphasis needs to be placed on protecting people from tobacco smoke and offering people help to quit tobacco.<sup>13</sup> Japan and Taiwan must consider raising tobacco taxes in line with WHO recommendations.<sup>14-16</sup> Regulation of alternative tobacco products like HTPs and e-cigarettes are a priority, especially for Japan and Korea.<sup>19-24</sup> All three countries could look towards investments in green energy sources, adoption of greener household appliances, better recycling of waste and taxation of emissions to move closer to WHO air quality targets.<sup>66</sup>

# Identify the truly high-risk population for targeted screening

Asian guidelines for lung cancer screening encompass both smokers and non-smokers with

a high-risk family history.<sup>32</sup> However, benefits reaped by including non-smokers and the longterm cost-effectiveness of such an approach remains to be studied. Real-world evidence from the South Korean (includes only smokers) and Taiwanese (includes high-risk non-smokers) lung cancer screening programmes will improve our understanding.

Other studies are evaluating various lung cancer development prediction models to focus screening programmes on the truly high-risk population, thereby limiting over diagnosis, radiation exposure and the financial burden on the health system.<sup>32</sup> The Taiwan Biobank and the National Biobank of Korea are prospectively collecting samples from healthy individuals for genomic studies and longitudinal followup.<sup>67,68</sup> Such efforts can be expanded to include individuals being screened for lung cancer to develop genomic models for prediction.

# Bridge inequities and improve access to comprehensive care

Our research highlights gaps in access to innovative therapies across all three countries. Experts allude to the need to expedite approval processes for new drugs, particularly in South Korea and Taiwan. Reimbursement also needs to be streamlined. Prof Park recommends that academics or reimbursement authorities from the three countries work together to develop a unified cost-effectiveness analysis tool to help support reimbursement. In addition, methods should be identified to mitigate the financial burden. Risksharing and managed entry agreements (MEAs) for reimbursement have been beneficial in this regard. But they are also fraught with limitations as evidenced by the South Korean experience. Originally intended to be an exceptional pathway for drugs treating rare diseases, MEAs have gradually become the standard for reimbursing high-cost cancer drugs in South Korea. This shift has led to an increase in the listing of drugs whose cost-effectiveness is uncertain. Furthermore, the effectiveness of these drugs and their budgetary impact are not sufficiently monitored, raising concerns about the system's efficiency.69,70

In Japan, universal coverage pays for high-cost therapies with a co-payment that is subject to age and income status. However, experts recommend that the government focus on sustainable financing solutions. For Taiwan, efforts should be directed at improving the robustness of national health insurance funds and developing better co-payment systems. The NHI funds essentially all cancer care, but the increase in premiums has not kept pace with the increased spending demands. Experts suggest several solutions, including the need for rising premiums, greater GDP allocation to healthcare spending, increased government budget for NHI, and the development of a cancer drug fund to improve funding to meet the cancer patients' needs. A co-payment system with an increased role of private insurance to bridge financing gaps is being discussed, but challenges in ensuring compliance of private companies with government rules have been an impediment.

Both South Korea and Taiwan have made efforts to earmark budgets to reinvest a portion of tobacco taxes into cancer prevention and control.<sup>17,18</sup> In Taiwan, there is a scope to ringfence the carbon tax and air pollution funds to address the medical costs of lung cancer.<sup>71</sup> This would require intersectoral collaboration. The experts advocate for a lung cancer office involving stakeholders from the Ministry of Environment, Ministry of Health and Welfare, National Science and Technology Council, cancer experts, and NGOs. This intersectoral agency would shoulder



the responsibility of formulating and executing a comprehensive range of policies to tackle lung cancer in Taiwan.<sup>71</sup>

In addition to improving access to novel therapies, enhancing comprehensive multidisciplinary care should be on the agenda. Japan has one of the lowest mortality rates for lung cancer at the country level. A greater proportion of Stage I disease, accessibility to cancer centres offering comprehensive care and better access to novel treatments are major drivers of these outcomes. According to our experts, the development of better psychosocial support services in South Korea and a more robust palliative care programme in Taiwan are needed to improve lung cancer care. There is limited focus on shared decision-making across all three countries, highlighting the need to move to a more patient-centric model of care.

Lung cancer continues to be the most lethal cancer worldwide and in East Asia, despite advances in prevention and care. A policy-level approach with a long-term vision, based on effectively implementing existing advances and actively seeking new ones, is the only path to reversing the tide.

# Advance translational research in lung cancer among never-smokers

Although smoking continues to be the biggest risk factor for lung cancer, never-smokers with lung cancer in East Asia warrant further study.<sup>29</sup> There are limited data on genetic mechanisms underpinning the risk of lung cancer in this cohort. Translational research in this space will be pivotal in advancing primary prevention and narrowing gender differences in outcomes.

# References

- Sung H, Ferlay J, Siegel RL, Laversanne M, Soerjomataram I, Jemal A, Bray F. Global Cancer Statistics 2020: GLOBOCAN Estimates of Incidence and Mortality Worldwide for 36 Cancers in 185 Countries. CA Cancer J Clin. 2021;71(3):209-49.
- Sharma R. Mapping of global, regional and national incidence, mortality and mortality-to-incidence ratio of lung cancer in 2020 and 2050. Int J Clin Oncol. 2022;27(4):665-75.
- Ferlay J LM, Ervik M, Lam F, Colombet M, Mery L, Piñeros M, Znaor A, Soerjomataram I, Bray F (2024). Global Cancer Observatory: Cancer Tomorrow. Lyon, France: International Agency for Research on Cancer. Available from: https://gco.iarc.fr/tomorrow, accessed 10/03/2024.
- 4. Institute for Health Metrics Evaluation. Used with permission. All rights reserved.
- Huang J, Deng Y, Tin MS, Lok V, Ngai CH, Zhang L, et al. Distribution, Risk Factors, and Temporal Trends for Lung Cancer Incidence and Mortality: A Global Analysis. Chest. 2022;161(4):1101-11.
- Hsu JC, Wei CF, Yang SC, Lin PC, Lee YC, Lu CY. Lung cancer survival and mortality in Taiwan following the initial launch of targeted therapies: an interrupted time series study. BMJ Open. 2020;10(5):e033427.
- Economist Impact. Breathing in a new era: a comparative analysis of lung cancer policies across the Asia-Pacific region. Available at https://www.eiu.com/n/campaigns/breathing-in-a-new-era-a-comparative-analysis-of-lung-cancer-policies-across-the-asia-pacific-region/.
- 8. The first phase of the National Lung Cancer Prevention and Control Plan (2022-2025). Ministry of Health and Welfare. Taiwan. Avalilble at https://www.hpa.gov.tw/File/Attach/17905/File\_23884.pdf.
- 9. Irish Cancer Society. Lung Cancer Action Plan. Available at https://www.cancer.ie/sites/default/files/2020-02/Summary\_lung%20 cancer%20action%20plan\_Irish%20Cancer%20Society.pdf.
- Australian Government. Department of Health and Aged Care. National Strategic Action Plan for Lung Conditions. February 2019. Available at https://www.health.gov.au/resources/publications/national-strategic-action-plan-for-lung-conditions?language=en.
- Decision tool, 'Do I need low-dose CT screening for lung cancer?' for physician-patient shared decision-making. Available at www. tmuh.org.tw/UploadFile/files/醫務部/醫病共享決策/32醫病共享決策SDM-我需要做低劑量電腦斷層篩檢肺癌嗎?.pdf.
- 12. WHO report on the global tobacco epidemic, 2023: protect people from tobacco smoke. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2023. Licence: CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO.
- Action on Smoking and Health et al. Using human rights measures to advance tobacco control- Japan and the Committee on the Elimination of Discrimination Against Women. Tob Induc Dis. 2020 Mar 19;18:19. doi: 10.18332/tid/119140. PMID: 32210743; PMCID: PMC7086337.
- 14. Park MB, Nam EW, Lee HL, Hong KS, Oh Y. Social phenomena following the tobacco tax increase in South Korea: Lessons and policy implications. Tob Induc Dis. 2018;16:24.
- 15. WHO. Promoting taxation on tobacco products. Available at https://www.who.int/europe/activities/promoting-taxation-on-tobacco-products.
- Taipei Times. Officials to discuss tobacco tax hike next year. July 2023. Available at https://www.taipeitimes.com/News/taiwan/archives/2023/07/26/2003803788.
- Laws and regulations database of the Republic of China (Taiwan). Regulations of the tobacco health and welfare surcharge distribution and utilization. November 2023. Available at https://law.moj.gov.tw/ENG/LawClass/LawAll.aspx?pcode=L0070029.
- 18. Hilton S, Smith MJ, Buckton CH, Patterson C. Experts' views on how to design a tobacco control fund in the UK. BMJ Open. 2022;12(11):e066224.
- 19. Lee TH, Kim W. Differences in electronic cigarette use among adolescents in Korea: A nationwide analysis. J Subst Abuse Treat. 2021;131:108554.
- Kuwabara Y, Kinjo A, Fujii M, Imamoto A, Osaki Y, Jike M, et al. Heat-not-burn tobacco, electronic cigarettes, and combustible cigarette use among Japanese adolescents: a nationwide population survey 2017. BMC Public Health. 2020;20(1):741.
- Seo HG, Xu SS, Li G, Gravely S, Quah ACK, Lee S, et al. Reasons for Initiation and Regular Use of Heated Tobacco Products among Current and Former Smokers in South Korea: Findings from the 2020 ITC Korea Survey. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 2023;20(6).
- 22. Heated tobacco products: summary of research and evidence of health impacts. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2023. Licence: CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO.
- 23. Kiyohara K, Tabuchi T. Use of heated tobacco products in smoke-free locations in Japan: the JASTIS 2019 study. Tob Control. 2020.

- 24. Quah ACK, Lee S, Seo HG, Cho SI, Lim S, Kim Y, et al. Methods of the 2020 (Wave 1) International Tobacco Control (ITC) Korea Survey. Tob Prev Cessat. 2022;8:13.
- Health Promotion Administration Media Release. Amendment to Tobacco Hazards Prevention Act effective from March 22, 2023. Ministry of Health and Welfare. Available at https://www.hpa.gov.tw/EngPages/Detail.aspx?nodeid=1054&pid=17534.
- 26. Taiwan News. March 2023. Vaping now illegal in Taiwan, punishable by NT \$10,000 fine. Available at https://www.taiwannews.com. tw/en/news/4843474#:~:text=E%2Dcigarettes%20are%20banned%20entirely,and%20use%20of%20e%2Dcigarettes.
- 27. Collaborators GBDRTC. Global, regional, and national burden of respiratory tract cancers and associated risk factors from 1990 to 2019: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2019. Lancet Respir Med. 2021;9(9):1030-49.
- WHO ambient air quality database. 2021. Available at https://cdn.who.int/media/docs/default-source/air-pollution-documents/airquality-and-health/who-air-quality-database-2021\_final.pdf
- 29. Zhou F, Zhou C. Lung cancer in never smokers-the East Asian experience. Transl Lung Cancer Res. 2018;7(4):450-63.
- Lung cancer policy network. Lung cancer screening policy in Japan. 17th January 2023. Available at https://www.lungcancerpolicynetwork.com/three-decades-of-ldct-screening-in-japan/.
- 31. Nawa T, Nakagawa T, Mizoue T, Endo K. Low-dose computed tomography screening in Japan. J Thorac Imaging. 2015;30(2):108-14.
- Lam DC, Liam CK, Andarini S, Park S, Tan DSW, Singh N, et al. Lung Cancer Screening in Asia: An Expert Consensus Report. J Thorac Oncol. 2023;18(10):1303-22.
- 33. Health Promotion Administration. Ministry of Health and Family Welfare. The First Country to Provide Lung Cancer Screening for Citizens with a Family History of Lung Cancer or a History of Heavy Smoking: The Lung Cancer Early Detection Program was Launched on July 1, 2022. Available at https://www.hpa.gov.tw/EngPages/Detail.aspx?nodeid=1051&pid=16553.
- Poon C, Wilsdon T, Sarwar I, Roediger A, Yuan M. Why is the screening rate in lung cancer still low? A seven-country analysis of the factors affecting adoption. Front Public Health. 2023;11:1264342.
- 35. OECD data. CT scanners. Available at https://data.oecd.org/healtheqt/computed-tomography-ct-scanners.htm.
- Cancer control act. Basic plan to Promote Cancer Control Programs. Available at https://atlas.ncc.go.jp/media/2.-Cancer-Control-Act-Basic-Plan-to-Promote-Cancer-Control-Programs.pdf37.
   Park J, Lee J, Kim Y. Public opinion on implementing the National Lung Cancer Screening Program in Korea. Transl Lung Cancer Res. 2021;10(3):1355-67.
- Pujol JL, Mercier G, Vasile M, Serre I, Vernhet-Kovacsik H, Bommart S. Brief Report: A Multidisciplinary Initial Workup for Suspected Lung Cancer as Fast-Track Intervention to Histopathologic Diagnosis. JTO Clin Res Rep. 2023;4(6):100526.
- NHS England 2023. Implementing a timed lung cancer diagnostic pathway. Available at https://www.england.nhs.uk/long-read/ implementing-a-timed-lung-cancer-diagnostic-pathway/.
- 40. Martinez MT, Monton-Bueno J, Simon S, Ortega B, Moragon S, Rosello S, et al. Ten-year assessment of a cancer fast-track programme to connect primary care with oncology: reducing time from initial symptoms to diagnosis and treatment initiation. ESMO Open. 2021;6(3):100148.
- Maeng CH, Ahn HK, Oh SY, Lim S, Kim BS, Kim DY. Practice patterns of multidisciplinary team meetings in Korean cancer care and patient satisfaction with this approach. Korean J Intern Med. 2020;35(1):205-14.
- 42. Cancer nursing profile. Japan. Available at https://jscn.or.jp/exchange/doc/Country%20profile%20\_Japan\_2020.pdf.
- Chi SA, Yu H, Choi YL, Park S, Sun JM, Lee SH, et al. Trends in Survival Rates of Non-Small Cell Lung Cancer With Use of Molecular Testing and Targeted Therapy in Korea, 2010-2020. JAMA Netw Open. 2023;6(3):e232002.
- Hendriks LE, Kerr KM, Menis J, Mok TS, Nestle U, Passaro A, et al. Oncogene-addicted metastatic non-small-cell lung cancer: ESMO Clinical Practice Guideline for diagnosis, treatment and follow-up. Ann Oncol. 2023;34(4):339-57.
- Putzu C, Canova S, Paliogiannis P, Lobrano R, Sala L, Cortinovis DL, Colonese F. Duration of Immunotherapy in Non-Small Cell Lung Cancer Survivors: A Lifelong Commitment? Cancers (Basel). 2023;15(3).
- Takahashi T, Nishio M, Nishino K, Yoshiki Y, Shiraiwa N, Emir B, et al. Real-world study of next-generation sequencing diagnostic biomarker testing for patients with lung cancer in Japan. Cancer Sci. 2023;114(6):2524-33.
- 47. The Japan Lung Cancer Society. Guidelines for various inspections. Guidelines for multi-gene testing using PCR for lung cancer patients. May 2023. Available at https://www.haigan.gr.jp/modules/tebiki/index.php?content\_id=21.
- 48. National Health Insurance Administration, Ministry of Health and Family Welfare. NGS testing for cancer could be included in the NHI package as early as May. Each insured individual is eligible for one reimbursement for each type of cancer. Available at https:// www.nhi.gov.tw/en/cp-14381-e3695-8-2.html.
- 49. Park S, Choi CM, Hwang SS, Choi YL, Kim HY, Kim YC, et al. Lung Cancer in Korea. J Thorac Oncol. 2021;16(12):1988-93.
- 50. Ferrara MG, Di Noia V, D'Argento E, Vita E, Damiano P, Cannella A, et al. Oncogene-Addicted Non-Small-Cell Lung Cancer: Treatment Opportunities and Future Perspectives. Cancers (Basel). 2020;12(5).
- Basumallik N, Agarwal M. Small Cell Lung Cancer. [Updated 2023 Jul 10]. In: StatPearls [Internet]. Treasure Island (FL): StatPearls Publishing; 2023 Jan-. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK482458/.
- 52. National Cancer Institute. Non-small cell lung cancer treatment-Health professional version. Available at https://www.cancer.gov/ types/lung/hp/non-small-cell-lung-treatment-pdq#:~:text=NSCLC%20is%20any%20type%20of,occur%20in%20unusual%20histological%20variants.

- 53. NCCN clinical practice guidelines in oncology. Non-small cell lung cancer. Available at https://www.nccn.org/professionals/physician\_gls/pdf/nscl.pdf
- National Health Insurance Administration. Cancer Immunity New Drug Zone. Available at https://info.nhi.gov.tw/api/INAE3000/ INAE3000S01/getPDF?DurgFileName=9.69.\_20231201.pdf
- 55. Shih YR, Liao KH, Chen YH, Lin FJ, Hsiao FY. Reimbursement Lag of New Drugs Under Taiwan's National Health Insurance System Compared With United Kingdom, Canada, Australia, Japan, and South Korea. Clin Transl Sci. 2020;13(5):916-22.
- 56. Pharmaceuticals and Medical Devices Agency. Available at https://www.pmda.go.jp/english/about-pmda/outline/0005.html.
- 57. Shiroiwa T, Fukuda T, Ikeda S, Takura T. New decision-making processes for the pricing of health technologies in Japan: The FY 2016/2017 pilot phase for the introduction of economic evaluations. Health Policy. 2017;121(8):836-41.
- 58. Ministry of Food and Drug Safety. Available at https://www.mfds.go.kr/eng/brd/m\_19/list.do.
- 59. Kwon HY, Godman B. Drug Pricing in South Korea. Appl Health Econ Health Policy. 2017;15(4):447-53.
- 60. Cancer Statistics in Japan. Available at https://ganjoho.jp/public/qa\_links/report/statistics/en.html.
- 61. Cancer Statistics in Korea. Available at https://e-crt.org/journal/view.php?number=3602.
- 62. Taiwan Cancer Registry Centre. Available at https://twcr.tw/?page\_id=1843&lang=en.
- 63. World Bank data. Available at https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/GB.XPD.RSDV.GD.ZS?locations=KR.
- 64. World Bank data. Available at https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/GB.XPD.RSDV.GD.ZS?locations=JP.
- 65. Research and Development Funding. Ministry of Economic Affairs. Available at https://dmz26.moea.gov.tw/GA/visualize/VisDashboard.aspx?d=5.
- Lanzi, E., et al. (2022), "The economic benefits of international co-operation to improve air quality in Northeast Asia: A focus on Japan, Korea and China", OECD Environment Working Papers, No. 197, OECD Publishing, Paris, https://doi.org/10.1787/5c5ee1a3-en.
- 67. Feng YA, Chen CY, Chen TT, Kuo PH, Hsu YH, Yang HI, et al. Taiwan Biobank: A rich biomedical research database of the Taiwanese population. Cell Genom. 2022;2(11):100197.
- Lee JE, Kim JH, Hong EJ, Yoo HS, Nam HY, Park O. National Biobank of Korea: Quality control Programs of Collected-human Biospecimens. Osong Public Health Res Perspect. 2012;3(3):185-9.
- OECD. Better policies for better lives. Performance-based managed entry agreements for new medicines. Available at https://www. oecd.org/els/health-systems/pharma-managed-entry-agreements.htm.
- 70. Kim H, Godman B, Kwon HY, Hong SH. Introduction of managed entry agreements in Korea: Problem, policy, and politics. Front Pharmacol. 2023;14:999220.
- Tackle lung cancer crisis, medics urge government. News report Taipei Times. November 2023. Available at https://www.taipeitimes.com/News/taiwan/archives/2023/11/01/2003808527

# Appendix



# Methodology

At the heart of this study is a benchmarking exercise that evaluates policies, programmes, guidelines and patient-centred care approaches.

In 2021 an Economist Impact research initiative spanning ten Asia Pacific (APAC) nations employed a scorecard framework derived from an initial literature review of established frameworks and programmes in global lung cancer prevention and control policy prioritisation. Following this, we crafted a set of 17 indicators across five domains and refined them with input from an editorial advisory board to assess each country.

In this study, while retaining the same framework, we updated indicators and sub-indicators based on a recent literature review to ensure relevance.

We ensured that our scoring decisions were informed by the most reliable information available, drawing on native language sources for the latest data. The data collection phase for this study extended up to February 2024. While we did incorporate some additional data from March 2024, it's important to note that the majority of the findings presented in this report are based on the data collected up until February 2024. Because of the nature of scoring—wherein complex matters are collapsed into simple scores—we note that not all readers will agree with all scores.

Country experts validated data related to drug access and biomolecular testing, with adjustments made based on their input to enhance accuracy. However, data from South Korea are limited, particularly in drug access and biomolecular testing; they reflect the best available public information at the time of collection. Despite the meticulous methodology, potential discrepancies may arise owing to data dynamics and limitations in public data accessibility.

Scoring approach Table with domains, indicators, sub-indicators and scoring criteria

Domain	Number	Indicator	Source	Scoring criteria
Lung cancer	1	A comprehensive,	Cancer Atlas/WHO/	1 = operational national cancer control plan exists
is a strategic priority		up to date national cancer control plan is in	individual country documents	1 = cancer control plan updated within the past five years
priority		operation		1 = cancer control plan includes implementation plan
				1 = cancer control plan identifies funding source
				1= lung cancer specific control plan exists
				1 = lung cancer specific plans include and monitor KPIs (this criteria is only be applicable for countries that score 1 in the above scoring criteria on lung cancer specific plans)
	2	Comprehensive, clinical	Individual country	1 = lung cancer clinical guidelines exist
		guidelines for lung cancer exist	documents	1 = guidelines cover screening for lung cancer
				1 = guidelines cover molecular testing on tumour sample where indicated
				1 = guidelines cover PD-L1 testing on tumour sample where indicated
				1 = guidelines cover treatment for lung cancer
				1 = guidelines cover supportive/palliative care for lung cancer
				1 = guidelines cover shared decision-making for patients with lung cancer
				1 = guidelines cover lung cancer educational awareness (e.g. publish booklet, conduct community-level promotion)
Lung cancer is	3	Tobacco and e-cigarette control policies and public health measures are in place	Individual country	1 = monitoring framework is in place for tobacco consumption
a public health			documents/WHO	1 = tobacco taxes are in line with WHO recommendations
10040				1 = advertising tobacco on national TV and radio is banned
				1 = law mandates that health warnings appear on tobacco packages
				Age restrictions are in place for smoking, legal age for smoking (unscored)
				1= national smoke-free legislation exists for indoor offices
				1 = national smoke-free legislation exists for restaurants/cafes/ pubs/bars
				1= national smoke-free legislation exists for public transport
				1 = heated tobacco products (HTPs) are banned in public areas (e.g. public transport, civic buildings, restaurants, cafes, pubs and/ or bars) (If HTPs are entirely banned in a particular country, this information will be included in the narrative, and the indicator will automatically be scored as '1'.)
				1 = e-cigarettes are banned in public areas (e.g. public transport, civic buildings, restaurants, cafes, pubs and/or bars) (If e-cigarettes are entirely banned in a particular country, this information will be included in the narrative, and the indicator will automatically be scored as '1'.)

Scoring approach (cont.) Table with domains, indicators, sub-indicators and scoring criteria

Domain	Number	Indicator	Source	Scoring criteria
Lung cancer is	4	National policies and	Individual country	1 = an air quality strategy exists
a public health issue (cont.)	a public health issue ( <i>cont.)</i>	programmes to control environmental exposure	documents/WHO	Last update of the air quality strategy (unscored)
		exist that could		1 = a national radon control programme/policy exists
		cancer		Most recent national radon survey (unscored)
				<ul> <li>5= PM2.5 average annual levels are 5 μg/m<sup>3</sup></li> <li>4= PM2.5 average annual levels are 10 μg/m<sup>3</sup></li> <li>3= PM2.5 average annual levels are 15 μg/m<sup>3</sup></li> <li>2= PM2.5 average annual levels are 25 μg/m<sup>3</sup></li> <li>1= PM2.5 average annual levels are 35 μg/m<sup>3</sup></li> <li>0= PM2.5 average annual levels do not meet WHO interim/air quality guideline targets</li> </ul>
	5	Patient organisations have a voice in policy	Individual country documents/WHO	1 = one or more independent lung cancer patient organisations exist
		development		1 = one or more independent lung cancer patient organisations are listed as contributors in clinical guideline
				1 = civil society has the opportunity to comment on health technology assessment (HTA) recommendations
	6 Lung cancer so for early detectimely treatment	Lung cancer screening for early detection and	Individual country documents	1 = national level screening programme—eligibility criteria: smokers
		timely treatment		1= national level screening programme—eligibility criteria: non- smokers with risk factor
Lung cancer is a race against time	7	Suspected lung cancer patients are diagnosed within a specific timeframe	Individual country documents	1 = guidelines mention a specific timeframe for diagnostic referral of suspected lung cancer patients/the suspected patients are fast-tracked
				1 = guidelines mention a specific time frame from first diagnosis to commencement of treatment in diagnosed lung cancer patients
	8	A pathway for rapid referral to quality care exists, including comprehensive care with innovative and appropriate treatments	Individual country documents	1 = national guidelines/pathways for rapid referral for lung cancer patients are in place
				1 = guidelines recommend that patients are treated by a multidisciplinary team
				Lung cancer patients with early adoption for innovative treatment under the national reimbursement system (unscored)
Lung cancer is	9	Access to imaging	Scientific literature/	1 = CT reimbursed for lung cancer screening
at a crossroads		for screening and diagnosis covered by	individual country documents	1 = CT reimbursed for lung cancer diagnosis
		reimbursement		1 = MRI reimbursed for lung cancer diagnosis
				CT scanners per capita (unscored)
				MRI machines per capita (unscored)

Scoring approach (cont.) Table with domains, indicators, sub-indicators and scoring criteria

Domain	Number	Indicator	Source	Scoring criteria
Lung cancer is	10	Access to medical,	Scientific literature/	number of pathologists per 100,000 (unscored)
(cont.)	surgical specialists	documents	number of radiologists per 100,000 (unscored)	
				number of pulmonologists per 100,000 (unscored)
				number of thoracic surgeons per 100,000 (unscored)
				number of medical oncologists per 100,000 (unscored)
				number of radiation oncologists per 100,000 (unscored)
	11	Radiotherapy is accessible	Scientific literature	Number of radiotherapy units per million population (unscored)
12	12	Biomarker testing, a cornerstone of precision medicine, is recommended and accessible	Individual country documents	PCR-based testing is reimbursed under national public health system 1 x 9 = tests (EGFR exons 18-21, BRAF V600E, HER2 and KRAS G12C ALK; MET14 exon skipping mutations and MET amplifications; ROS1, NTRK and RET rearrangements)
				Broad-molecular profiling with next-generation sequencing-based testing is reimbursed under the national public health system (panel coverage rate) 1 x 9 = tests (EGFR exons 18-21, BRAF V600E, HER2 and KRAS G12C ALK; MET14 exon skipping mutations and MET amplifications: BOS1_NTBK and BET rearrangements)
				1 = PD-L1 IHC testing for patients with localised non-small- cell lung cancer (NSCLC) planned for neoadjuvant, adjuvant or definitive chemoradiotherapy is reimbursed under the national public health system
				1= PD-L1 immunohistochemistry (IHC) testing for patients with advanced or metastatic NSCLC is reimbursed under national public health system
				Turnaround time for molecular testing results (unscored)
	13	Key innovative medicines are accessible and reimbursed	Individual country documents	See section below titled <u>Lung cancer drug approval and</u> reimbursement table
	14	Psychological burden of lung cancer is	Individual country documents	1 = evidence suggests addressing psychological burden in lung cancer care
		understood and support services are in place		1 = guidelines include a referral pathway to psychological support services for lung cancer patients
	15	Patients have access to supportive/palliative	Individual country documents	1 = guidelines include referral pathway to supportive/palliative care services for lung cancer patients
		care services		1 = oncologists receive training in supportive/palliative care

Scoring approach (cont.) Table with domains, indicators, sub-indicators and scoring criteria

Domain	Number	Indicator	Source	Scoring criteria
Lung cancer	16	Clinical and outcomes	Cancer Atlas/	Population-based cancer registry (PBCR)
is a focus for research		data are collected	documents	0 = no data/status unknown
				1 = PBCR (national or regional)
				2 = high-quality PBCR (regional)
				3 = high-quality PBCR (national)
				Vital registration data
				0 = no data/status unknown
				1 = incomplete or sample vital registration
				2 = low-quality complete vital registration
				3 = medium-quality complete vital registration
				4 = high-quality complete vital registration
	17	Research is supported	World Bank and	R&D as % of GDP (unscored)
	and funded WHO, International Clinical Trials Registry Platform (ICTRP)	Clinical Trials Registry Platform (ICTRP)	Number of lung cancer clinical trials between 2014 and 2023 (unscored)	
			Individual country documents	1 = Innovative lung cancer therapies locally developed in the country

### Lung cancer drug approval and reimbursement table

We have identified 17 key indications from the National Comprehensive Cancer Network (NCCN) guidelines for lung cancer treatment. Each indication has one or more recommended therapies. The overall scores, ranging from 0 to 34, are determined by the approval and reimbursement status of these therapies. Here's how we score:

**Score 0:** Assigned when the recommended therapies are neither approved nor reimbursed for respective indication.

**Score 1:** Assigned when at least one (or more) recommended therapy(ies) is approved, but none are reimbursed for respective indication.

**Score 2:** Assigned when at least one (or more) recommended therapy(ies) is both approved and reimbursed for respective indication.

Our scoring system is designed to assess the coverage of indications, rather than the number of approved and reimbursed therapies, ensuring a more accurate measure of access. However, it's important to note a limitation of our methodology. We have focused solely on reimbursements under national health insurance schemes. Consequently, we may not fully capture the constraints associated with reimbursement coverage due to specific eligibility criteria set by individual countries. These criteria could potentially affect access to innovative therapies.

### Not approved Approved but not reimbursed Approved and reimbursed

Indication	New drug list	Japan	South Korea	Taiwan
Anti-PD-L1 therapies recommended by NCCN guidelines as category	Nivolumab			
1 for neoadjuvant treatment of non-small-cell lung cancer (NSCLC) in eligible patients	Pembrolizumab			
Anti-PD-L1 therapies recommended by NCCN guidelines as category	Pembrolizumab			
1 for adjuvant treatment of resected NSCLC in eligible patients	Atezolizumab			
Consolidation immunotherapy for patients with Stage II/III who have received definitive chemo-radiation	Durvalumab			
Immunotherapy single-agent or combination options recommended	Pembrolizumab		*	*
by NCCN as category 1 options for first-line treatment of metastatic, non-oncogene-addicted (wild-type) NSCLC in eligible patients	Atezolizumab		*	*
	Nivolumab–ipilimumab			
	Durvalumab-tremelimumab	*		
	Cemiplimab			
Anti-PD-L1 therapy included as NCCN category 1 options for	Pembrolizumab		*	*
continuation maintenance treatment in metastatic, non-oncogene- addicted (wild-type) NSCLC receiving immunotherapy in first-line	Atezolizumab		*	
setting	Nivolumab-Iplimumab			
	Cemiplimab			
Systemic therapy for patients with surgically resected Stage IB-IIIA or IIIB (T3N2) NSCLC with either EGFR exon 19 or exon 21 L858R mutations	Osimertinib			

### Not approved

Approved but not reimbursed

Approved and reimbursed

Indication	New drug list	Japan	South Korea	Taiwan
NCCN category 1 treatment option for first-line preferred treatment of metastatic NSCLC (mNSCLC) with either EGFR exon 19 or exon 21 L858R mutations	Osimertinib			
NCCN category 1 recommended treatment options for first-line	Afatinib			
treatment of mNSCLC with either EGFR exon 19 or exon 21 L858R mutations	Gefitinib			
	Erlotinib			
	Dacomitinib			*
NCCN category 1 preferred treatment options for first-line treatment	Alectinib			
of ALK rearranged mNSCLC	Brigatinib			
	Lorlatinib			
NCCN category 1 recommended treatment options for first-line	Crizotinib			
treatment of ALK rearranged metastatic NSCLC	Ceritinib			
NCCN preferred treatment options for first-line treatment of mNSCLC	Larotrectinib			*
with NTRK1/2/3 gene fusion	Entrectinib		*	
NCCN preferred treatment options for first-line treatment of mNSCLC	Capmatinib			
with MET ex-14 skipping	Tepotinib			
NCCN preferred treatment options for first-line treatment of mNSCLC	Selpercatinib			
with RET rearrangements	Pralsetinib			
NCCN preferred treatment options for first-line treatment of mNSCLC	Crizotinib			
with ROS1 rearrangements	Entrectinib			
	Repotrectinb			
NCCN category 1 recommended treatment option for metastatic NSCLC with ROS1 rearrangement	Ceritinib			
NCCN category 1 preferred treatment options for mNSCLC with	Dabrafenib-trametinib			
BRAF V600E mutation	Encorafenib+binimetinib			
NCCN category 1 recommended anti-PD-L1 therapies for first-line	Durvalumab			
management of extensive-stage small-cell lung cancer (SCLC) in combination with chemotherapy	Atezolizumab		*	*

\*The drug is approved and reimbursed. However, strict eligibility criteria for reimbursement criteria potentially limit drug access.

The Information on the drug approval and reimbursement status for Japan and Taiwan is based on expert feedback, and SK is based on desktop research. For details of eligibility criteria for please refer: Details on application standards and methods of nursing care benefits 2022 for South Korea and The latest version of drug payment regulations - updated on 113.04.22 for Taiwan

# **Detailed country scorecard with explanation**

# Japan lung cancer country profile

Domain	Indicator name	Indicator number and scoring range	Score	Justification
Domain 1: Lung cancer is a strategic priority: focusing	A comprehensive, up to date national cancer control plan is in	Indicator 1 scoring (0-6)	4	+2 The 4th Basic Plan for the Promotion of Cancer Control Programs was finalised by cabinet approval in March 2020. This includes implementation plans. <sup>1</sup>
on national cancer control plans and clinical guidelines	operation			+2 A government budget is set aside for the implementation of the cancer control plan. <sup>1</sup>
chinear guidennes				0 No specific lung cancer control plan is available.
	Comprehensive, clinical guidelines for lung cancer exist	Indicator 2 scoring (0-8)	7	+4 The Japan Lung Cancer Society publishes guidelines for diagnosis and treatment of lung cancer. The guidelines include screening, diagnosis, molecular diagnosis, treatment and palliative care. <sup>2</sup>
				+1 PD-L1 immunohistochemistry (IHC) is recommended for all patients with non-small-cell lung cancer (NSCLC) who have undergone surgical resection and are being evaluated for adjuvant therapy as well as patients with advanced or recurrent NSCLC. <sup>3</sup>
				+1 The guidelines cover treatment for lung cancer and cover supportive/palliative care for lung cancer. <sup>2</sup>
				+1 The Japan Lung Cancer Society publishes a guidebook on lung cancer for public awareness.4
				0 The lung cancer guidelines do not explicitly cover and describe shared decision making for patients with lung cancer.
Domain 2 : Lung cancer is a public health issue:	Tobacco and e-cigarette control policies and public health measures	Indicator 3 scoring (0-9)	6	+1 Japan was among the four countries that enhanced their national tobacco control programmes between 2020 and 2022 to reach the highest level of adoption. <sup>5</sup>
covering aspects of public health, including health	are in place			0 In Japan, The tobacco tax rate is 59.9%, which is lower than the minimum tax rate of 75% recommended by the WHO. <sup>5</sup>
itteracy, tobacco control and screening				0 Tobacco advertising is not banned. It is self-regulated by tobacco companies at their discretion. <sup>6</sup>
				+1 The Tobacco Business Act mandates that health warnings appear on tobacco packages. <sup>7</sup>

### ■ Low ■ Moderately low ■ Moderate ■ Moderately high ■ High

Domain	Indicator name	Indicator number and scoring range	Score	Justification
Domain 2 : Lung cancer is a public	Tobacco and e-cigarette control policies and	Indicator 3 scoring (0-9) <i>(cont.)</i>		Japan has a specific law that bans smoking by people younger than 20 years. <sup>8</sup>
health issue: covering aspects of public health, including health literacy, tobacco control and screening (cont.)	public health measures are in place <i>(cont.)</i>			+2 In 2018, the Health Promotion Law (HPL) of Japan was revised and effective from 2019 all indoor areas of public facilities and government offices became smoke- free, although smoking is still permitted outdoors.9 Japan has separate smoking and smoke-free sections in restaurants. <sup>9</sup>
				+1 National smoke-free legislation exists for public transport. <sup>10</sup>
				+1 Local governments have rules regulating the use of HTPs (heated tobacco products), including a ban in public areas. <sup>11</sup>
				O The transfer and sale of electronic cigarettes containing nicotine is prohibited by law in Japan. However, electronic cigarettes sold in Japan do not contain nicotine and thus are not subject to regulation. <sup>11</sup>
	National policies and programmes to control environmental exposure exist that could potentially prevent lung cancer	Indicator 4 scoring (0-7)	5	+1 The Ministry of Environment in Japan passed the Air Pollution Control Act in 1968, and since then amendments have been made to set standards for volume control of various gases. <sup>12</sup>
				Indoor air quality standards were last updated in December 2021. <sup>13</sup>
				+1 Japan has a <b>national radon programme, however,</b> <b>the last was conducted in 2007-2010</b> covering 3500 dwellings. <sup>14</sup>
				+3 Japan's annual average target for PM2.5 concentration is under <15 μg/m <sup>3</sup> , which is equal to WHO recommended interim target 3 (and short of WHO's 2021 actual set target of annual average PM2.5 of 5 μg/m <sup>3</sup> ). <sup>15</sup>
	Patient organisations have a voice in policy	Indicator 5 scoring (0-3)	2	+1 A number of lung cancer organisations exist, including One Step. <sup>16</sup>
	development			+1 The Japan Lung Cancer Society's Lung Cancer Awareness committee provides a platform for sharing medical information among stakeholders, including patient organisations and clinical research organisations. <sup>17</sup>
				0 The current HTA system lacks a mechanism for attracting comments from civil society.
	Lung cancer screening for early detection and timely treatment	Indicator 6 scoring (0-2)	2	+2 Japan has offered an annual routine CXR and sputum cytology in adults aged 40 years or above as population-based screening programmes for lung cancer since 1987. Both smokers and non-smokers are included. <sup>18</sup>

📕 High

### ■ Low ■ Moderately low ■ Moderate ■ Moderately high

Domain	Indicator name	Indicator number and scoring range	Score	Justification
Domain 3: Lung cancer is a race against time: reviewing fast- track referral systems and rapid referral to treatment	Suspected lung cancer patients are diagnosed within a specific timeframe	Indicator 7 scoring (0-2)	0	0 The Japan Lung Cancer Society's clinical guidelines do not mention a specific timeframe for diagnostic referral of suspected lung cancer patients.
	A pathway for rapid referral to quality care exists including comprehensive care with innovative and appropriate treatments	Indicator 8 scoring (0-2)	1	<ul> <li><b>0</b> National guidelines/pathways for rapid referral for lung cancer patients do not exist.</li> <li>+1 Guidelines recommend that patients are treated by a multidisciplinary team.<sup>19</sup></li> </ul>
Domain 4: Lung cancer is at crossroads: assessing effective	Access to imaging for screening and diagnosis covered by reimbursement	Indicator 9 scoring (0-3)	2	<ul> <li><b>0</b> In Japan LDCT is not used for lung cancer screening. Chest x-ray and sputum cytology are used, instead.<sup>20</sup></li> <li>+2 Both CT and MRI are reimbursed for diagnosis.<sup>21</sup></li> </ul>
treatment and quality care	Access to medical, surgical specialists	Indicator 10 (number of healthcare professionals)	unscored	<ul> <li>2,120 total pathologists in 2020<sup>22</sup></li> <li>7,112 total radiologists in 2020<sup>22</sup></li> <li>6,728 total pulmonologists in 2020<sup>22</sup></li> <li>2,075 total thoracic surgeons in 2020<sup>22</sup></li> <li>18,009 total medical oncologists in 2023<sup>23</sup></li> <li>1,332 board-certified radiation oncologists and 1,337 medical physicists were registered in Japan in 2021.<sup>24</sup></li> </ul>
	Radiotherapy is accessible	Indicator 11	unscored	In Japan, the number of megavoltage machines per million is around 8.7. <sup>25</sup> <30% of patients with cancer have access to radiotherapy and only 11.1% of the patients are initially treated in Japan. <sup>26</sup>
	Biomarker testing, a cornerstone of precision medicine, is recommended and accessible	Indicator 12 (0-40)	28	<ul> <li>PCR-based and NGS testing are reimbursed under national public health system for EGFR, BRAF, ALK, ROS1.<sup>27</sup></li> <li>PCR-based testing is reimbursed under national public health system for KRAS, MET 14 and RET rearrangement^</li> <li>NGS testing are reimbursed under national public health system for HER2, RET rearrangement^</li> <li>PCR-based testing not approved for HER2, MET amplification, NTRK rearrangement^</li> <li>NGS testing is not approved for KRAS, MET 14, MET amplification, NTRK rearrangement^</li> <li>PDL1 testing are reimbursed under national public health system ^</li> </ul>
	Drug approval and reimbursement	Indicator 13 (0-34)	32	For details please refer the <u>Lung cancer drug approval</u> and reimbursement table above

|--|

1.1.1	<b>—</b> 1.12 1
/ high	🗖 High

Domain	Indicator name	Indicator number and scoring range	Score	Justification
Domain 4: Lung cancer is at crossroads:	Psychological burden of lung cancer is understood and support services are in place	Indicator 14 (0-2)	1	+1 Evidence suggests that support exists to addressing address the psychological burden in lung cancer care, however, their utilisation rate is low. <sup>28</sup>
assessing effective treatment and quality care ( <i>cont.</i> )				The guidelines do not include a referral pathway to psychological support services for lung cancer patients.
	Patients have access to supportive / palliative	Indicator 15 (0-2)	2	Guidelines include referral pathways to supportive/ palliative care services for lung cancer patients. <sup>29</sup>
	care services			The National Cancer Centre provides training in supportive/palliative care for oncologists. <sup>30</sup>
Domain 5: Lung cancer is a focus for research: appraising registries and research	Clinical and outcome data are collected	Indicator 16 scoring (0-7)	6	+2 There is a high-quality regional population-based cancer registry PBCR cancer registry. <sup>31</sup> Vital registration data is collected by the MOHW Ministry of Health, Labour and Welfare and considered high-quality. <sup>32</sup>
	Research is supported and funded	Indicator 17 scoring (0-1)	0	<b>0</b> Innovative lung cancer therapies locally developed in the country.
				3.3% of GDP was spent on research and development in 2021. <sup>33</sup>
				Number of lung cancer clinical trials between 1/1/2014- 31/12/2023: <sup>34</sup>
				Phase 1: 11 Phase 2: 24 Phase 3: 26 Phase 4: 0

# References

- 1 Basic Plan for Promoting Cancer Control Measures. Ministry of Health, Labour and Welfare. Available at https://www.mhlw.go.jp/stf/seisakunitsuite/bunya/0000183313.html
- 2 The Japan Lung Cancer Society. Lung cancer treatment guidelines including malignant pleural mesothelioma and thymic tumors. 2022 edition. Available at https://www.haigan.gr.jp/guideline/2022/
- 3 The Japan Lung Cancer Society. Guidelines for multi-gene testing using PCR for lung cancer patients. May 2023. Available at https://www.haigan.gr.jp/modules/ tebiki/index.php?content\_id=21
- 4 The Japanese Lung Cancer Society. Lung Cancer Guidebook for patients. Available at https://www.haigan.gr.jp/guidebook2019/2020/first.html
- 5 World Health Organization. WHO report on the global tobacco epidemic. 2023. Available at https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/9789240077164
- 6 Ichikawa M, Tabuchi T. Japan's Position in the Global Standard to Ban Tobacco Advertising in the Media. J Epidemiol. 2022 Jul 5;32(7):354-356. doi: 10.2188/jea. JE20220074. Epub 2022 May 21. PMID: 35431300; PMCID: PMC9189320.
- 7 Health warning labels on tobacco products. MHLW. Japan Factsheet 2021. Available at https://www.e-healthnet.mhlw.go.jp/information/wp-content/uploads/ factsheet2021\_08.pdf
- 8 Law concerning the prohibition of smoking by persons under the age of 20 (Act No. 33 of 1899). Available at https://elaws.e-gov.go.jp/document?lawid=133AC1000000033
- 9 Using human rights measures to advance tobacco control- Japan and the Committee on the Elimination of Discrimination Against Women. Tob Induc Dis. 2020 Mar 19;18:19. doi: 10.18332/tid/119140. PMID: 32210743; PMCID: PMC7086337.
- 10 Government public relation online. Available at https://www.gov-online.go.jp/useful/article/201907/2.html
- 11 Measures against passive smoking. 2022. Available at https://www.city.shinagawa.tokyo.jp/PC/kenkou/kenkou-dukuri/kenkou-dukuri-judok/20191126092617. html?SLANG=ja&TLANG=en&XMODE=0&XCHARSET=utf-8&XJSID=0
- 12 Environmental Quality Standards in Japan Air Quality. Ministry of Environment. Government of Japan. Available at https://www.env.go.jp/en/air/aq/aq.html
- 13 About building environmental hygiene management standards. MHLW. Available at https://www.mhlw.go.jp/bunya/kenkou/seikatsu-eisei10/
- Janik M, Bossew P, Hasan MM, Cinelli G. Indoor Radon Research in the Asia-Pacific Region. Atmosphere. 2023; 14(6):948. https://doi.org/10.3390/atmos14060948
   Temporary guidelines for environmental standards and alerts. Bureau of Environment. Available at https://www.kankyo.metro.tokyo.lg.jp/air/air\_pollution/toriku-mi/pm2\_5/pm\_kijun/
- 16 NPO Lung Cancer Patient Association. One Step. Available at https://www.lung-onestep.com/blank-34
- 17 The Japan Lung Cancer Society. Lung Cancer Medical Improvement Committee. Available at https://www.haigan.gr.jp/modules/ippan/index.php?content\_id=16
- 18 Lung cancer policy network. Lung cancer screening policy in Japan. 17th January 2023. Available at https://www.lungcancerpolicynetwork.com/three-decades-of-ldct-screening-in-japan/
- 19 The Japan Lung Cancer Society. Lung cancer treatment guidelines including malignant pleural mesothelioma and thymic tumors. 2023 edition. Available at https://www.haigan.gr.jp/guideline/2023/
- 20 Horinouchi H, Kusumoto M, Yatabe Y, Aokage K, Watanabe S, Ishikura S. Lung Cancer in Japan. Journal of Thoracic Oncology. Vol 17 Iss 3. 2022. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.jtho.2021.11.020
- 21 Medical Reservation Service Online. Available at https://www.mrso.jp/lung/lung-dock-price.html
- 22 Statistics on number of doctors. MHLW. Available at https://www.mhlw.go.jp/toukei/saikin/hw/ishi/20/dl/R02\_kekka-1.pdf
- 23 Certified Cancer Treatment Doctors in Numbers. Japanese Board of Cancer Therapy. Available at https://www.jbct.jp/general/figure.html
- 24 Arai M, Ohno I, Takahashi K, et al. Current status of medical oncology in Japan and changes over the most recent 7-year period: results of a questionnaire sent to designated cancer care hospitals. Jpn J Clin Oncol. 2021;51(11):1622-1627. doi:10.1093/jjco/hyab135
- 25 Huh SJ, Nishimura T, Park W, Nakamura K. Comparison of radiotherapy infrastructure between Korea and Japan. Jpn J Clin Oncol. 2019 Dec 18;49(11):1024-1028. doi: 10.1093/jjco/hyz124. PMID: 31665340.
- 26 Katano A, Minamitani M, Yamashita H, Nakagawa K. National Survey of Radiotherapy Utilization Trends from 2015 to 2019, Based on the National Database of Health Insurance Claims and Specific Health Check-ups of Japan. JMA J. 2023 Jul 14;6(3):342-345. doi: 10.31662/jmaj.2022-0142. Epub 2023 May 12. PMID: 37560369; PMCID: PMC10407371.
- 27 Yatabe Y, Yoshiki Y, Matsumura K, Togo K, Kikkawa H, Iadeluca L, Li B, Nishio K. Real-World Evidence of Diagnostic Testing for Driver Oncogene Mutations in Lung Cancer in Japan. JTO Clin Res Rep. 2020 Dec 29;2(3):100136. doi: 10.1016/j.jtocrr.2020.100136. PMID: 34589999; PMCID: PMC8474388.
- 28 Matsui T, Hirai K, Gondo Y, Sato S. Examination of factors contributing to help-seeking behavior in accessing psychosocial support services among Japanese cancer patients: An application of the segmentation approach. Journal of the Psychological, Social, and Behavioral Dimensions of Cancer. 2020. https://doi.org/10.1002/ pon.5523
- 29 The Japan Lung Cancer Society. Palliative care. Available at https://www.haigan.gr.jp/guideline/2023/1/5/230105010100.html#cq1
- 30 National cancer center hospital. Palliative care specialised training. Available at https://www.ncc.go.jp/jp/ncch/clinic/palliative\_care/030/index.html
- 31 Cancer registries. International cancer control partnership portal. Available at https://www.iccp-portal.org/cancer-registries#:~:text=Worldwide%2C%20 there%20are%20than,and%20in%20Africa%20(11%25)
- 32 National Cancer Registry. 2022. Available at https://ganjoho.jp/med\_pro/cancer\_control/can\_reg/national/hospital/pdf/ncr\_manual\_ 2022 pdf
- 33 World bank data. Available at https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/GB.XPD.RSDV.GD.ZS?locations=JP
- 34 World Health Organizations. International Clinical Trials Registry Platform. Available at https://trialsearch.who.int/AdvSearch.aspx

# Detailed country scorecard with explanation



# South Korea lung cancer country profile

	Low Moderately	low 📕 Moderate 📕 Mo	oderately high 🛛 🗖 Hig	ţh	
	Domain	Indicator name	Indicator number and scoring range	Score	Justification
	Domain 1: Lung cancer is a strategic priority: focusing	A comprehensive, up to date national cancer control plan is in	Indicator 1 scoring (0-6)	4	+4 The 4th National Cancer Control Plan was launched in March 2021 to cover 2021-25.1 It contains an annual implementation plan and is funded by the government. <sup>1</sup>
on national cancer	operation			No specific lung cancer control plan is available	
	clinical guidelines	Comprehensive, clinical guidelines for lung	Indicator 2 scoring (0-8)	7	+1 South Korea has adopted the Pan-Asian guidelines for lung cancer management. <sup>2</sup>
		cancer exist			+1 The guidelines recommend annual LDCT screening for adults aged 55-74 years who are current or ex- smokers that quit less than 15 years ago and have a 30-pack-year smoking history or more. <sup>3</sup>
					+1 The Korean Cardiopulmonary Pathology Study Group and the Korean Molecular Pathology Study Group published a consensus statement in 2021 on molecular biomarker testing in non-small-cell lung cancer (NSCLC). <sup>4</sup>
					+1 Guidelines recommend PDL1 testing on tumour samples where indicated and also cover treatment for lung cancer. <sup>4</sup>
					+1 The Korean lung cancer treatment guidelines cover treatment for lung cancer. <sup>5</sup>
					+1 Guidelines cover supportive/palliative care for lung cancer but <b>do not cover shared decision-making for patients with lung cancer.</b> <sup>6</sup>
					+1 The National Cancer Information Centre provides lung cancer education awareness guidelines, including booklets and reports. <sup>7</sup>
	Domain 2 : Lung cancer is a public health issue:	Tobacco and e-cigarette control policies and public health measures	Indicator 3 scoring (0-9)	8	+1 The Korea Disease Control and Prevention Agency has a monitoring framework in place for tobacco consumption. <sup>8</sup>
	covering aspects of public health,	are in place			<b>0</b> The tobacco tax rate is 73.8%, marginally lower than the WHO recommendation (75%). <sup>9</sup>
	literacy, tobacco control and screening				+1 Advertising tobacco on national TV and radio is banned. <sup>10</sup>

© The Economist Impact 2024

Domain	Indicator name	Indicator number and scoring range	Score	Justification
Domain 2 : Lung cancer is a public	Tobacco and e-cigarette control policies and	Indicator 3 scoring (0-9) <i>(cont.)</i>		+1 Graphic warning labels on tobacco products came into effect in 2017. <sup>11</sup>
health issue: covering aspects of public health, including health literacy, tobacco control and screening (cont.)	public health measures are in place (cont.)			The National Health Promotion Act protects adolescents aged ≤19 from smoking and regulates tobacco companies' advertising and promotion, which targets youth, young adults, and females. <sup>11</sup>
				+1 National smoke-free legislation exists for indoor offices. For the period of 2021–2025, a roadmap was announced in 2019 to gradually expand smoke-free zones by banning smoking in all indoor buildings and eliminating all indoor smoking rooms by 2025. <sup>11</sup>
				+1 National Health Plan 2020 (HP2020) bans smoking in all restaurants and bars. <sup>11</sup>
				+1 National smoke-free legislation exists for public transport. <sup>11</sup>
				+1 Heated tobacco products are banned in public area under the National Health Promotion Act. <sup>12</sup>
				+1 Vaping is banned in public places and on public transport, but is allowed in designated smoking areas.
	National policies and programmes to control environmental exposure exist that could potentially prevent lung cancer	Indicator 4 scoring (0-7)	5	+1 The Indoor Air Quality Control Act exists as a dedicated law and mandates the Ministry of Environment to implement a national air quality strategy. <sup>14</sup>
				The 4th Basic Plan for Indoor Air Quality Management was released in January 2020 for the 2020-24 planning period. <sup>14</sup>
				+1 The Korea Institute of Nuclear Safety has conducte four nationwide radon surveys, in 1989, 1999-00, 2002 05 and 2008-09. <sup>15</sup>
				+3 South Korea's target for annual average PM2.5 concentration is <15 μg/m <sup>3</sup> , which is equal to WHO recommended interim target 3 (and short of WHO's 2021 actual set target of annual average PM2.5 of 5 μg/m <sup>3</sup> ). <sup>16</sup>
	Patient organisations have a voice in policy development	Indicator 5 scoring (0-3)	2	+1 A national lung cancer patient organisation has been active since its inauguration in May 2020.17 However there is <b>no evidence of this organisation's</b> <b>contribution to clinical guidance.</b>
				+1 The National Evidence-based Healthcare Collaborating Agency, which operates South Korea's HTA system, has a permanent programme facilitating the public's participation. <sup>18</sup>
	Lung cancer screening for early detection and timely treatment	Indicator 6 scoring (0-2)	1	+1 The National Lung Cancer Screening Programme (NLCSP) provides LDCT screening for only smokers an ex-smokers. <sup>19</sup>
				0 Screening is currently not recommended for high- risk non-smokers.

Moderately low Moderate Moderately high

📕 High

Domain	Indicator name	Indicator number and scoring range	Score	Justification
Domain 3: Lung cancer is a race against time: reviewing fast- track referral systems and rapid referral to treatment	Suspected lung cancer patients are diagnosed within a specific timeframe	Indicator 7 scoring (0-2)	0	<b>O</b> The Korean Association for Lung Cancer's clinical guidelines neither mention a specific timeframe for diagnostic referral of suspected lung cancer patients nor a specific timeframe for diagnostic referral of suspected lung cancer patients. <sup>6</sup>
	A pathway for rapid referral to quality care exists including comprehensive care with innovative and	Indicator 8 scoring (0-2)	1	<ul> <li><b>0</b> National guidelines/pathways for rapid referral for lung cancer patients do not exist.<sup>6</sup></li> <li><b>+1</b> A multidisciplinary team is required for lung cancer care.<sup>20</sup></li> </ul>
Domain 4: Lung cancer is	Access to imaging for screening and	Indicator 9 scoring (0-3)	3	+2 CT is reimbursed for lung cancer screening and diagnosis. <sup>21,22</sup>
at crossroads: assessing effective	reimbursement			+1 MRI is reimbursed for cancer diagnosis. <sup>22</sup>
treatment and	Access to medical,	Indicator 10	unscored	1,078 total pathologists in 2018 <sup>23</sup>
quality care	surgical specialists	(number of healthcare		220 total radiologists in 2018 <sup>23</sup>
		professionals)		1,267 total thoracic surgeons in 2018 <sup>23</sup>
				321 total radiation oncologists in 2021 <sup>20</sup>
	Radiotherapy is accessible	Indicator 11	unscored	In 2018 South Korea had 6.8 radiotherapy machines per 1 million population. <sup>24</sup>
				In South Korea, the percentage of patients who received radiotherapy as the initial treatment increased from 25% in 2010 to 30% in 2015. <sup>25</sup>
	Biomarker testing, a cornerstone of precision medicine, is recommended and accessible	Indicator 12 (0-40)	29	PCR-based and NGS testing are reimbursed under national public health system for EGFR, BRAF, ALK, ROS1, KRAS. <sup>20,26</sup>
				NGS testing are reimbursed under national public health system for HER2. <sup>26</sup>
				PDL1 testing reimbursed under the national public health system.
	Drug approval and reimbursement	Indicator 13 (0-34)	26	For details please refer the <u>Lung cancer drug approval</u> and reimbursement table above
Domain 4: Lung cancer is at crossroads: assessing effective	Psychological burden of lung cancer is understood and support services are in place	Indicator 14 (0-2)	0	The Korean Association for Lung Cancer's clinical guidelines neither mention the psychological burden of lung cancer nor include a referral pathway to psychological support services for lung cancer patients. <sup>6</sup>
treatment and quality care (cont.)	Patients have access to supportive / palliative	Indicator 15 (0-2)	2	+1 Guidelines include referral pathways to supportive/ palliative care services for lung cancer patients. <sup>6</sup>
	care services			+1 The Act on Hospice and Palliative Care and Decisions on Life-sustaining Treatment for Patients at the End of Life states legal requirements for oncologists to receive training in supportive/palliative care. <sup>27</sup>

. . . .

Domain	Indicator name	Indicator number and scoring range	Score	Justification
Domain 5: Lung cancer is a focus	Clinical and outcome data are collected	Indicator 16 scoring (0-7)	7	+3 There is a high-quality national population-based cancer registry. <sup>28</sup>
for research: appraising registries and research				+4 Vital registration data is collected by the Ministry of Health and Welfare and considered high-quality. <sup>29</sup>
	Research is supported and funded	Indicator 17 scoring (0-1)	1	+1 Innovative lung cancer therapies is locally develope in the country. The Ministry of Food and Drug Safety has given its approval for a broader use of Yuhan Corp's Leclaza (active ingredient: lazertinib) as a primary treatment. <sup>30</sup>
				4.93% of GDP was spent on research and development in $2021.^{31}$
				Number of lung cancer clinical trials between 1/1/2014 31/12/2023: <sup>32</sup>
				Phase 1: 15 Phase 2: 100 Phase 3: 37 Phase 4: 5

# References

- 1 Han K, Jun J, Im J. National Cancer Control Plan of the Korea: Current Status and the Fourth Plan (2021-2025). J Prev Med Public Health 2023;56:205-211. Available at https://doi.org/10.3961/jpmph.23.115.
- 2 Park K, Vansteenkiste J, Lee KH, et al. Pan-Asian adapted ESMO Clinical Practice Guidelines for the management of patients with locally-advanced unresectable non-small-cell lung cancer: a KSMO-ESMO initiative endorsed by CSCO, ISMPO, JSMO, MOS, SSO and TOS. Ann Oncol. 2020;31(2):191-201. doi:10.1016/j. annonc.2019.10.026
- 3 Lam DC, Liam CK, Andarini S, et al. Lung Cancer Screening in Asia: An Expert Consensus Report. J Thorac Oncol. 2023;18(10):1303-1322. doi:10.1016/j. jtho.2023.06.014
- 4 Chang S, Shim HS, Kim TJ, et al. Molecular biomarker testing for non-small cell lung cancer: consensus statement of the Korean Cardiopulmonary Pathology Study Group. J Pathol Transl Med. 2021;55(3):181-191. doi:10.4132/jptm.2021.03.23
- 5 Korean medical guidelines information centre. Lung cancer treatment guidelines. Available at https://www.guideline.or.kr/guide/view.php?number=26&cate=B
- 6 Guidelines for treatment of lung cancer. Available at https://www.lungca.or.kr/bbs/?number=913&mode=view&code=guideline&keyfield=&keyword=&catego-ry=&gubun=&orderfield=
- 7 National Cancer Information Center. Available at https://cancer.go.kr/
- 8 Health Hazard Information. Official e-government website. Available at https://www.kdca.go.kr/contents.es?mid=a20205010601
- 9 Korea Health Prevention Institute. National Tobacco Control Center. Available at https://nosmk.khepi.or.kr/ntcc/eng/subIndex/778.do
- 10 Korea Advertising related laws. National Health Promotion Act. Available at https://www.karb.or.kr/regulation/ad\_regulation4.aspx
- 11 Quah ACK, Lee S, Seo HG, Cho SI, Lim S, Kim Y, Xu SS, Grey M, Yan M, Boudreau C, Thompson ME, Driezen P, Fong GT. Methods of the 2020 (Wave 1) International Tobacco Control (ITC) Korea Survey. Tob Prev Cessat. 2022 Mar 30;8:13. doi: 10.18332/tpc/146685. PMID: 35434426; PMCID: PMC8961692.
- 12 Health in everyday life shared with the people. Korea Health Webzine. Vol 3. 2020. Available at https://www.khepi.or.kr/webzine/vol\_03/cnt\_2\_1.jsp
- 13 Global state of Tobacco. Nicotine vaping devices in South Korea. Available at https://gsthr.org/countries/profile/kor/#:~:text=Vaping%20is%20banned%20in%20 public,allowed%20in%20designated%20smoking%20areas.
- 14 The 4th Indoor Air Quality Management Basic Plan ('20~'24). Available at https://www.me.go.kr/home/web/policy\_data/read.do?pagerOffset=0&maxPage-Items=10&maxIndexPages=10&searchKey=&searchValue=&menuId=10259&orgCd=&condition.deleteYn=N&seq=7463
- 15 Park J, Kim YJ, Chang BU, Kim JY, Kim KP. Assessment of indoor radon exposure in South Korea. J Radiol Prot. 2023;43(2):10.1088/1361-6498/acc8e0. Published 2023 Apr 24. doi:10.1088/1361-6498/acc8e0
- 16 Fine dust (PM2.5) environmental standards have been strengthened to the level of the United States and Japan. Official e-government website. Available at http://27.101.216.208/home/web/board/read.do;jsessionid=uWU7tLuLWKEFv71lwALDrlgx.mehome1?pagerOffset=5440&maxPageItems=10&maxIndexPagees=10&searchKey=&searchValue=&menuId=10525&orgCd=&boardMasterId=1&boardCategoryId=39&boardId=849570&decorator=
- 17 Korea Lung Cancer Patients Association. Available at https://www.patientcloud.or.kr/introduction02
- 18 Korea Health and Medical Research Institute, Available at https://www.neca.re.kr/
- 19 Lam DC, Liam CK, Andarini S, et al. Lung Cancer Screening in Asia: An Expert Consensus Report. J Thorac Oncol. 2023;18(10):1303-1322. doi:10.1016/j. jtho.2023.06.014
- 20 Park S, Choi CM, Hwang SS, et al. Lung Cancer in Korea. J Thorac Oncol. 2021;16(12):1988-1993. doi:10.1016/j.jtho.2021.09.007
- 21 Korean Lung Cancer Screening Project (K-LUCAS) Led to Launch of New National Lung Cancer Screening Program in Korea. Media Release. 2019. Available at https://www.ilcn.org/korean-lung-cancer-screening-project-k-lucas-led-to-launch-of-new-national-lung-cancer-screening-program-in-korea/
- 22 Imaging Diagnosis and Radiation Treatment Fees. Available at http://rulesvc.hira.or.kr/lmxsrv/law/lawFullView.srv?SEQ=40&SEQ\_HISTORY=2134
- 23 Health and medical statistics. Available at https://rihp.re.kr/bbs/board.php?bo\_table=statistics\_supply&wr\_id=31
- 24 OECD data. Radiotherapy equipment. Available at https://data.oecd.org/healtheqt/radiotherapy-equipment.htm
- 25 Katano A, Minamitani M, Yamashita H, Nakagawa K. National Survey of Radiotherapy Utilization Trends from 2015 to 2019, Based on the National Database of Health Insurance Claims and Specific Health Check-ups of Japan. JMA J. 2023 Jul 14;6(3):342-345. doi: 10.31662/jmaj.2022-0142. Epub 2023 May 12. PMID: 37560369; PMCID: PMC10407371.
- 26 OECD Reviews of Public Health: Korea : A Healthier Tomorrow. Available at https://www.oecd-ilibrary.org/sites/3b1ee34f-en/index.html?itemId=/content/component/3b1ee34f-en
- 27 Hospice and palliative care business. National Cancer Center. Available at https://www.ncc.re.kr/main.ncc?uri=manage01\_8
- 28 Cancer registries. International cancer control partnership portal. Available at https://www.iccp-portal.org/cancer-registries#:~:text=Worldwide%2C%20 there%20are%20than,and%20in%20Africa%20(11%25)
- 29 Cancer registration statistics. National Cancer Center. Available at https://ncc.re.kr/cancerStatsView.ncc?bbsnum=658&searchKey=total&searchValue=&page-Num=1
- 30 Yuhan's Leclaza indication expanded as 1st-line NSCLC treatment. Korean Biomedical Review. Available at https://www.koreabiomed.com/news/articleView. html?idxno=21480
- 31 World bank data. Available at https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/GB.XPD.RSDV.GD.ZS?locations=KR
- 32 World Health Organizations. International Clinical Trials Registry Platform. Available at https://trialsearch.who.int/AdvSearch.aspx

# Detailed country scorecard with explanation



# Taiwan lung cancer country profile

Low Moderately low Moderate Moderately high High							
Domain	Indicator name	Indicator number and scoring range	Score	Justification			
Domain 1: Lung cancer is a strategic	A comprehensive, up to date national	Indicator 1 scoring (0-6)	6	+2 The Taiwan National Cancer Control policy is in place and was last amended on April 26th 2023. <sup>1</sup>			
priority: focusing on national cancer control plans and	cancer control plan is in operation			+1 The 4th phase of the National Cancer Prevention and Control Plan (2019-23) specifies annual implementation strategies. <sup>2</sup>			
				<b>+3</b> The cancer control plan is funded by the Ministry of Health and Welfare (MOHW) and specifies short-term (2025) and long-term (2030) targets. <sup>1,3</sup>			
	Comprehensive, clinical guidelines for lung cancer exist	Indicator 2 scoring (0-8)	<ul> <li>8 +1 Taiwan adopted the Pan-Asian adapted Society for Medical Oncology (ESMO) guid National Comprehensive Cancer Network guidelines.<sup>4,5</sup></li> <li>+1 Taiwan has lung cancer screening guide</li> <li>+3 Lung Cancer Treatment Guidelines contesting, PDL1 testing on tumour samples windicated and treatment for lung cancer.<sup>7</sup></li> <li>+1 In 2000, palliative care regulations wer practice in Taiwan. The same year NHI sub hospice in-patient care, with per capita an programmes.<sup>8</sup></li> <li>+1 The Patient Right to Autonomy Act sta has the right to choose and make decision the treatment options provided by the phy 2018, the MOHW also published a decision public titled "Do I need low-dose CT scan lung cancer?" to promote shared decision-physician-patient consensus.<sup>10</sup></li> </ul>	+1 Taiwan adopted the Pan-Asian adapted European Society for Medical Oncology (ESMO) guidelines and National Comprehensive Cancer Network (NCCN) guidelines. <sup>4,5</sup>			
				+1 Taiwan has lung cancer screening guidelines.6			
				+3 Lung Cancer Treatment Guidelines cover molecular testing, PDL1 testing on tumour samples where indicated and treatment for lung cancer. <sup>7</sup>			
				+1 In 2000, palliative care regulations were put into practice in Taiwan. The same year NHI subsidised hospice in-patient care, with per capita and per diem programmes. <sup>8</sup>			
				+1 The Patient Right to Autonomy Act states a patient has the right to choose and make decisions regarding the treatment options provided by the physician. <sup>9</sup> In 2018, the MOHW also published a decision tool for public titled "Do I need low-dose CT scan screening for lung cancer?" to promote shared decision-making and physician-patient consensus. <sup>10</sup>			
				+1 Lung cancer prevention booklet published by MOHW. <sup>11</sup>			

Domain	Indicator name	Indicator number and scoring range	Score	Justification
Domain 2 : Lung cancer is a public	Tobacco and e-cigarette control policies and	Indicator 3 scoring (0-9)	8	+1 Taiwan Tobacco Hazards Prevention Act includes a monitoring framework for tobacco consumption. <sup>12</sup>
health issue: covering aspects of public health,	public health measures are in place			<b>0</b> In Taiwan, the tobacco tax rate is 53%, which is lower than the minimum tax rate of 75% recommended by the WHO. <sup>13</sup>
literacy, tobacco control and				+1 Advertisement through television and radio is banned. <sup>12</sup>
screening				+1 Law mandates that health warnings appear on tobacco packages and persons under the age of 20 sha not smoke. <sup>12</sup>
				+3 National smoke-free legislation exists for indoor offices, public transport and restaurants/cafes/pubs/ bars. <sup>12</sup>
				+1 Heated tobacco products HTPs are banned in public areas. <sup>14</sup>
				+1 E-cigarettes are banned entirely in Taiwan. <sup>14</sup>
	National policies and programmes to control environmental exposure exist that could potentially prevent lung cancer	Indicator 4 scoring (0-7)	5	+1 The 2nd National Air Pollution improvement implementation plan (2024-2027) exists and was last updated ion November 2023/11. <sup>15</sup>
				+1 The Nuclear Safety Commission conducts household radon surveys and the most recent one was conducted in 2015-2017. <sup>16,17</sup>
				+ <b>3</b> Taiwan's target for annual average PM2.5 concentration target is under <13 μg/m <sup>3</sup> , which is lower than the WHO interim target 3 i.e. 15 μg/m <sup>3</sup> (and <b>short</b> <b>of WHO's 2021 actual set target of annual average</b> <b>PM2.5 of 5 μg/m<sup>3</sup></b> ). <sup>18</sup>
	Patient organisations have a voice in policy development	Indicator 5 scoring (0-3)	3	+1 Diagnostics, Therapeutics & Care Education of Lung Cancer in Taiwan is a lung cancer patient support society. <sup>19</sup>
				+1 The current members of the Journal of Cancer Prevention and Treatment and the Cancer Policy Committee include representatives of social justice individuals and civil society groups, including patient groups, which will help promote cancer prevention and treatment policies. <sup>20</sup>
				+1 Civil society has the opportunity to comment on Health Technology Assessment (HTA) recommendations. <sup>21</sup> However, the number of patient representatives is small and they attend the meeting but do not have the rights to vote. <sup>A</sup>
	Lung cancer screening for early detection and timely treatment	Indicator 6 scoring (0-2)	2	Biannual screening with LDCT is recommended for high-risk individuals, including smokers and people wit family history of lung cancer. <sup>6</sup>

^ Expert feedback

Low Mo

Moderately low Moderate

Moderately high

n 📕 High

Domain	Indicator name	Indicator number and scoring range	Score	Justification
Domain 3: Lung cancer is a race against time: reviewing fast- track referral systems and rapid referral to treatment	Suspected lung cancer patients are diagnosed within a specific timeframe	Indicator 7 scoring (0-2)	1	+1 Taiwan adheres to the modified American College of Radiology Lung-RADS guidelines by the American College of Radiology (ACR) for nodule management and has set up a case management system for consistent follow-up of positive screening results, it does not specify a particular timeframe within these guidelines for when diagnostic referrals should occur. <sup>22</sup> However, the experts mentioned that <b>there are green channels for the suspected</b> <b>patients for to enable timely final diagnosis</b> .
				<b>0</b> There are no specific timeframe from 1st diagnosis to commencement of treatment in diagnosed lung cancer patients. The median time interval from diagnosis to treatment initiation for NSCLC patients in Taiwan was around 8-14 days. <b>Efforts should be made to minimise the interval from diagnosis to treatment in Taiwan</b> . <sup>23</sup>
	A pathway for rapid referral to quality	Indicator 8 scoring (0-2)	2	+1 National guidelines/pathways for rapid referral for lung cancer patients are in place. <sup>24</sup>
	care exists including comprehensive care with innovative and appropriate treatments			+1 Guidelines recommend that patients are treated by a multidisciplinary team. <sup>7</sup>
Domain 4: Lung cancer is	Access to imaging for screening and diagnosis covered by	Indicator 9 scoring (0-3)	3	+2 CT is reimbursed for lung cancer screening and diagnosis. <sup>25,26</sup>
assessing effective	reimbursement			+1 MRI is reimbursed for cancer diagnosis. <sup>26</sup>
treatment and quality care	Access to medical,	Indicator 10 (number of healthcare professionals)	unscored	230 licensed clinical pathologists in 2022. <sup>27</sup>
	surgical specialists			1,354 licensed diagnostic radiologists in 2022. <sup>27</sup>
				7,367 of radiologists in 2023. <sup>27</sup>
				12,051 licensed medical specialists in internal medicine. <sup>27</sup>
				7,971 licensed medical specialists in surgery in 2022. <sup>27</sup>
				402 licensed radiation oncologists in 2022. <sup>27</sup>
	Radiotherapy is accessible	Indicator 11	unscored	95 radiation oncology units in 2020 and 7.5 therapy machines with MV/MeV beams per million population in Taiwan. <sup>28,29</sup>
	Biomarker testing, a cornerstone of (0-40) precision medicine, is recommended and accessible	Indicator 12 (0-40)	24	PCR-based testing are reimbursed under national public health system for EGFR, ALK, KRAS.^
			PCR-based and NGS testing are approved for but not covered by national public health system BRAF, HER2, MET 14, MET amplification, ROS1, NTRK and RET rearrangement <sup>^</sup>	
				NGS testing are approved for but not covered by national public health system for EGFR, KRAS, ALK.^

^ Expert feedback

# Low

Moderately low Moderate

Moderately high

Domain	Indicator name	Indicator number and scoring range	Score	Justification
Domain 4: Lung cancer is	Biomarker testing, a cornerstone of precision medicine, is recommended and accessible <i>(cont.)</i>	Indicator 12 (0-40) ( <i>cont.</i> )		PDL1 testing are reimbursed under national public health system ^
at crossroads: assessing effective treatment and quality care (cont.)				The National Health Insurance Administration plans to include coverage for next-generation sequencing (NGS) testing upon cancer diagnosis or when second-line or third-line therapies are unsuccessful. Under this plan, the NHI will cover one NGS test per cancer type for each insured individual by May 2024. <sup>30</sup>
	Drug approval and reimbursement	Indicator 13 (0-34)	25	For details please refer the <u>Lung cancer drug approval</u> and reimbursement table above
	Psychological burden of lung cancer is understood and support services are in place	Indicator 14 (0-2)	2	+1 Evidence suggests that support exists to addressing the psychological burden in lung cancer care. <sup>31</sup>
				+1 Guidelines include referral pathway to psychological support services for lung cancer patients. <sup>31</sup>
	Patients have access to supportive / palliative care services	Indicator 15 (0-2)	2	+1 The NCCN Guidelines followed in Taiwan include a referral pathway to palliative care services for cancer patients, which includes lung cancer.
				+1 Oncologists receive training in supportive/palliative care. <sup>32</sup>
Domain 5: Lung cancer is a focus	Clinical and outcome data are collected	Indicator 16 scoring (0-7)	7	+3 There is a high-quality national population-based cancer registry (PBCR). <sup>33</sup>
for research: appraising registries and research				+4 Vital registration data is collected by the MOHW and considered high-quality. <sup>34</sup>
	Research is supported and funded	Indicator 17 scoring (0-1)	0	<b>0</b> Innovative lung cancer therapies locally developed in the country.
				3.96% of GDP spent on research and development in 2022.35 $$
				Number of lung cancer clinical trials between $1/1/2014$ - $31/12/2023$ . <sup>36</sup>
				Phase 1: 10 Phase 2: 30 Phase 3: 34 Phase 4: 0

^ Expert feedback

### References

- 1 Cancer Control Act. Laws and Regulation Database. Ministry of Health and Welfare. Available at https://law.moj.gov.tw/ENG/LawClass/LawAll.aspx?p-code=L0070008
- 2 The fourth phase of the National Cancer Control Plan (2019-23). Available at https://www.hpa.gov.tw/File/Attach/1094/File\_13858.pdf
- National Lung Cancer Prevention and Control Plan. Ministry of Health and Welfare. Available at https://www.hpa.gov.tw/File/Attach/17905/File\_23884.pdf
   Park K, Vansteenkiste J, Lee KH, Pentheroudakis G, Zhou C, Prabhash K, Seto T, Voon PJ, Tan DSW, Yang JCH, Wang J, Babu KG, Nakayama Y, Alip A, Chua KLM, Cheng JC, Senan S, Ahn YC, Kim TY, Ahn HK, Peters S, Yoshino T, Douillard JY. Pan-Asian adapted ESMO Clinical Practice Guidelines for the management of patients with locally-advanced unresectable non-small-cell lung cancer: a KSMO-ESMO initiative endorsed by CSCO, ISMPO, JSMO, MOS, SSO and TOS. Ann Oncol. 2020 Feb;31(2):191-201. doi: 10.1016/j.annonc.2019.10.026. Epub 2019 Dec 20. PMID: 31959336.
- 5 Hsu JC, Wei CF, Yang SC, Lin PC, Lee YC, Lu CY. Lung cancer survival and mortality in Taiwan following the initial launch of targeted therapies: an interrupted time series study. BMJ Open. 2020 May 10;10(5):e033427. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2019-033427. PMID: 32393610; PMCID: PMC7223022.
- 6 Cancer Prevention and Control. Health Promotion Administration. Ministry of Health and Welfare. 2023. Available at https://www.hpa.gov.tw/EngPages/Detail. aspx?nodeid=1051&pid=16553
- 7 Lung Cancer Treatment Guidelines (2022) published by Taipei Medical University/Taipei Cancer Center. Available at https://www.cancertaipei.tw/wp-content/uplo ads/2022/03/03%E8%82%BA%E7%99%8C-%E4%B8%AD.pdf
- 8 Hospice & Palliative Care in Taiwan. Available at https://www.hospice.org.tw/content/2468
- 9 Patient Right to Autonomy Act. Laws and Regulation Database. Ministry of Health and Welfare. Available at https://law.moj.gov.tw/ENG/LawClass/LawAll.aspx?p-code=L0020189
- 10 Decision tool, 'Do I need low-dose CT screening for lung cancer?' for physician-patient shared decision-making. Available at www.tmuh.org.tw/UploadFile/files/醫務部/醫病共享決策/32醫病共享決策SDM-我需要做低劑量電腦斷層篩檢肺癌嗎?.pdf.
- 11 Taiwan Lung Cancer Society. Lung cancer prevention and treatment manual. Available at https://www.tlcs.org.tw/secretariatn\_notice\_article.php?the\_ no=czozOilxODciOw==
- 12 Tobacco Hazards Prevention Act. Laws and Regulation Database. Ministry of Health and Welfare. Available at https://law.moj.gov.tw/ENG/LawClass/LawAll. aspx?pcode=L0070021
- 13 Academics demand higher tobacco tax. Taipei Times. Available at https://www.taipeitimes.com/News/taiwan/archives/2023/08/06/2003804322#:~:tex-t=The%20average%20price%20of%20a,in%20Taiwan%20has%20slowed%20down
- 14 Special Zone on New Tobacco Harm Control Law. Health Promotion Administration. Ministry of Health and Welfare. 2023. Available at https://www.hpa.gov.tw/ Pages/List.aspx?nodeid=4721#:~:text=%E8%8F%B8%E5%AE%B3%E9%98%B2%E5%88%B6%E6%B3%95%E4%BF%AE%E6%B3%95%E6%A5%AD%E7%B6% 93112%E5%B9%B42,%EF%BC%8C%E5%A7%8B%E5%BE%97%E8%A3%BD%E9%80%A0%E3%80%81%E8%BC%B8%E5%85%A5%E3%80%82
- 15 Air Quality Improvement and Maintenance Information Network. Ministry of Environment. Available at https://air.moenv.gov.tw/EnvTopics/AirQuality\_7.aspx
- 16 Strengthen residential radon survey in Taiwan. National Safety Commission. 2023. Available at https://www.nusc.gov.tw/%E7%84%A6%E9%BB%9E%E5%B0%88 %E5%8D%80/%E7%AE%A1%E5%88%B6%E7%B2%BE%E9%80%B2%E4%BD%9C%E7%82%BA/%E7%92%B0%E5%A2%83%E7%9B%A3%E6%B8%AC/1.%E5 %8A%A0%E5%BC%B7%E5%8F%B0%E7%81%A3%E5%9C%B0%E5%8D%80%E4%BD%8F%E5%AE%85%E8%88%87%E5%A4%A7%E5%9E%8B%E5%85%AC %E5%85%B1%E7%A9%BA%E9%96%93%E6%B0%A1%E6%B0%A3%E8%AA%BF%E6%9F%A5--218\_3738\_3769\_3770.html
- 17 Atomic Energy Commission Report. Commissioned by Executive Yuan Radiation Detection Center. 2017. Available at https://www.nusc.gov.tw/share/file/information/3G1Kqb8ITIYNNpq8n2CvBg\_.pdf
- 18 PM2.5 concentration highest in Yunlin County last year: Gov't data. Focus Taiwan. News Report. Available at https://focustaiwan.tw/society/202403240004#:~:-text=Taiwan%20is%20hoping%20to%20keep,2027%2C%20according%20to%20the%20ministry.
- 19 Diagnostics, Therapeutics & Care Education of Lung Cancer in Taiwan. Available at https://www.taiwanlungcancer.com/%E8%82%BA%E7%99%8C%E-7%97%85%E5%8F%8B%E6%9A%A8%E5%AE%B6%E5%B1%AC%E8%81%AF%E8%AA%BC%E6%9C%83
- 20 The 4th Plenary Meeting of the Committee on Social Welfare, Health and Environment Available at https://www.mohw.gov.tw/dl-82709-2f3e734f-1f63-4f74-90f7f2c05f9bfd37.html
- 21 Medical Technology Assessment. Center for Drug Evaluation, Taiwan. Available at https://www.cde.org.tw/HTA/
- 22 Taiwan National Lung Cancer Early Detection Screening Program Targets Smokers and Non-smokers With Family History. 2023. Available at https://ascopost. com/issues/november-25-2023-supplement-iaslc-highlights/taiwan-national-lung-cancer-early-detection-screening-program-targets-smokers-and-nonsmokers-with-family-history/
- 23 Tsai C, Kung P, Kuo W, et al. Effect of time interval from diagnosis to treatment for non-small cell lung cancer on survival: a national cohort study in Taiwan. BMJ Open 2020;10:e034351. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2019-034351
- 24 National Health Service, Ministry of Health and Welfare Lung Cancer Early Detection Program. 2023. Available at https://www.rootlaw.com.tw/Attach/L-Doc/ A040170071010500-1121012-3000-066.pdf
- 25 National Health Service. MOHW. 2022. Available at https://www.mohw.gov.tw/cp-5271-71105-1.html#:~:text=%E5%9C%8B%E6%B0%91%E5%81%A5%E5%BA %B7%E7%BD%B2%E8%87%AA111,%E9%80%9A%E9%81%8E%E7%9A%84%E8%82%BA%E7%99%8C%E7%AF%A9%E6%AA%A2
- 26 Diagnosis and treatment item code and health insurance coverage. Available at https://www.nhi.gov.tw/ch/dl-44637-43111f214f484ee19c01aaf89d74cf19-1.xls
- 27 Number of Licensed Medical Specialists. Available at https://www.mohw.gov.tw/dl-17706-172c0145-663b-42ac-9a06-b01ab3457409.html
- 28 Annual Report of Medical Care Institution & Hospital Utilization, 2020. MOHW. 2021. Available at https://www.bing.com/ck/a?!&&p=d8f30f23d8cb509bJmltdHM-9MTcwNzAwNDgwMCZpZ3VpZD0yNDZkZDZkNC1hNTMzLTY0MzYtMWRmNi1jMmQ2YTRmMzY1NmYmaW5zaWQ9NTQwMA&ptn=3&ver=2&hsh=3&fclid=246dd6d4-a533-6436-1df6-c2d6a4f3656f&psq=%e5%8f%b0%e6%b9%be%e6%af%8f%e4%b8%87CT%e6%95%b0%e9%87%8f&u=a1aHR0cHM6Ly93d-3cubW9ody5nb3YudHcvZGwtNzE50DQtYzRIZDgzZjctMjkxYS00Yjg3LTImOGYtNTVIZWNjMDFINWEyLmh0bWw&ntb=1
- 29 Shiau AC, Hsu SM, Huang PY, Chen CP, Huang YT, Lien KY, Chen CP, Fan SH, Jeng SC, Chen HH, Liang JA. Dosimetry audits in Taiwan radiotherapy departments. BJR Open. 2021 Apr 15;3(1):20210002. doi: 10.1259/bjro.20210002. PMID: 35707755; PMCID: PMC9185846.
- 30 The National Health Insurance Administration. MOHW. News Release. 2024 Available at https://www.nhi.gov.tw/en/cp-14381-e3695-8-2.html
- 31 Taiwan Psycho-oncology society. Lung cancer psychological care and education manual. Available at http://www.tpos-society.org/ehc-tpos/s/viewDocument?documentId=bf5ba6d48d054d11a22f9b44a6d9a008
- 32 Hospice and Palliative Care training. Taiwan Clinical Training Program. Available at https://www.medicaltravel.org.tw/MedicalTraining/Program-Content.aspx-?a=2896&l=1&fromCnt=1
- 33 Shin H, Curado MP, Sobue T, Moore MA. Establishment of an Asian Cancer Registry Network Problems and Perspectives. Asian Pacific J Cancer Prev, 9, 815-832. 2008
- 34 Ng TC, Lo WC, Ku CC, Lu TH, Lin HH. Improving the Use of Mortality Data in Public Health: A Comparison of Garbage Code Redistribution Models. Am J Public Health. 2020; 110(2): 222–229. doi: 10.2105/AJPH.2019.305439. PMCID: PMC6951373PMID: 31855478
- 35 Research and Development Funding. Ministry of Economic Aairs. Available at https://dmz26.moea.gov.tw/GA/visualize/VisDashboard.aspx?d=5
- 36 World Health Organizations. International Clinical Trials Registry Platform. Available at https://trialsearch.who.int/AdvSearch.aspx

While every effort has been taken to verify the accuracy of this information, Economist Impact cannot accept any responsibility or liability for reliance by any person on this report or any of the information, opinions or conclusions set out in this report. The findings and views expressed in the report do not necessarily reflect the views of the sponsor.

## LONDON

The Adelphi 1-11 John Adam Street London WC2N 6HT United Kingdom Tel: (44) 20 7830 7000 Email: london@eiu.com

### **NEW YORK**

900 Third Avenue 16th Floor New York, NY 10022 United States Tel: (1.212) 554 0600 Fax: (1.212) 586 1181/2 Email: americas@economist.com

# **HONG KONG**

1301 12 Taikoo Wan Road Taikoo Shing Hong Kong Tel: (852) 2585 3888 Fax: (852) 2802 7638 Email: asia@economist.com

## **GENEVA**

Rue de l'Athénée 32 1206 Geneva Switzerland Tel: (41) 22 566 2470 Fax: (41) 22 346 93 47 Email: geneva@economist.com

# DUBAI

Office 1301a Aurora Tower Dubai Media City Dubai Tel: (971) 4 433 4202 Fax: (971) 4 438 0224 Email: dubai@economist.com

# SINGAPORE

8 Cross Street #23-01 Manulife Tower Singapore 048424 Tel: (65) 6534 5177 Fax: (65) 6534 5077 Email: asia@economist.com

# **SÃO PAULO**

Rua Joaquim Floriano, 1052, Conjunto 81 Itaim Bibi, São Paulo, SP, 04534-004, Brasil Tel: +5511 3073-1186 Email: americas@economist.com

# WASHINGTON DC

1920 L street NW Suite 500 Washington DC 20002 United States Email: americas@economist.com